EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA

Church Council

MINUTES

Nov. 10-13, 2022

Prepared by the Office of the Secretary

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Plenary Session I	3
CALL TO ORDER AND ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA	3
REPORT OF THE PRESIDING BISHOP	3
REPORT OF THE VICE PRESIDENT	3
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE	3
RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES	
PROCESS TO ELECT MEMBERS TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE	4
SYNOD VISITS BY CHURCH COUNCIL MEMBERS.	
STEWARDSHIP CONVERSATION	6
Recess	6
REPORT FROM THE CONFERENCE OF BISHOPS	6
REPORT FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE TEAM	6
ECUMENICAL GREETING FROM THE EPISCOPAL CHURCH	6
PERSONAL REFLECTION ON FAITH	
ADJOURNMENT	
Plenary Session II	8
CALL TO ORDER	8
FIRST BALLOT FOR AT-LARGE MEMBERS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE	_
Gender and Racial Justice Education	
Process Observation	
First Ballot Results	
ADIOURNMENT	
Plenary Session III	9
•	
CALL TO ORDER	
BIBLE STUDY	
REPORT OF THE SECRETARY	
REPORT OF THE LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL REVIEW COMMITTEE	
ADVISORY MEMBERS OF THE CHURCH COUNCIL	
CONTRACT FOR DIVERSITY, EQUITY, INCLUSION, AND ACCESSIBILITY ELCA GOVERNANCE AUDIT	
REPORT OF THE CHRISTIAN COMMUNITY AND LEADERSHIP COMMITTEE	
Personal Reflection on Faith	
ECUMENICAL GREETING FROM THE MORAVIAN CHURCH	
ADJOURNMENT	_
Plenary Session IV	
Call to Order and Executive Session.	
SECOND BALLOT FOR TWO CATEGORIES OF AT-LARGE MEMBERS TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE	11
REPORT OF THE SERVICE AND JUSTICE COMMITTEE	11
REPORT OF THE FAITH, SOCIETY, AND INNOVATION COMMITTEE	11
Reconsideration of Human Sexuality: Gift and Trust (2009)	11
Process Observation	12
Announcements	12
Adjournment	12
Plenary Session V	13
Call to Order	13
FIRST BALLOT FOR THE FINAL AT-LARGE MEMBER TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (LAY WOMAN OR NON-BINARY PERSON)	13
CONVERSATION ON COMMISSION FOR A RENEWED LUTHERAN CHURCH	13
FIRST BALLOT FOR LAY WOMAN OR NON-BINARY PERSON RESULTS	13

ADJOURNN	ENT	14
lenary Sess	sion VI	1:
CALL TO OF	IDER	15
	LLOT FOR THE FINAL AT-LARGE MEMBER OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (LAY WOMAN OR NON-BINARY PERSON)	
	THE CHURCH COUNCIL YOUTH AND YOUNG ADULT WORKING GROUP	
	TION OF ITEMS REMOVED FROM <i>En Bloc</i>	
	DE ORGANIZATION PERSONNEL POLICIES	
	PPROVAL OF CERTAIN ITEMS	
	of the Church Council	
	Audit Committee Report	
A. B.	Mission Development Fund Policy	
Б. С.	Post-Retirement Medical Benefits	
D.	Completion of COVID-19 Response Fund	
Б. Е.	Revisions to the ELCA Governance Policy Manual	
F.	Proposed Bylaw Amendments for Portico Benefit Services	
G.	Proposed Bylaw Amendment for Lenoir-Rhyne University	
О. Н.	Synod Constitution Amendments	
l.	Proposed Bylaw Amendment for United Lutheran Seminary	
J.	Assessment and Feasibility of Social Message Processes	
K.	Corporate Social Responsibility Documents	
L.	Policy on Criteria for Synodically-Authorized Worshiping Communities	
M.	Approval of the Minutes	
N.	Issuance of Church Council Letters of Call	1
0.	Church Council Nominations and Elections	1
Respon	ses to Churchwide Assembly Actions	2
Р.	Fortifying Urban Ministries	
Q.	Mission Development Process	2
R.	Greenhouse Gas Reduction	2
S.	Voting Rights and D.C. Statehood	
T.	Right to Boycott	2
U.	Unaltered Augsburg Confession	2
V.	Salary Equity in the ELCA	
W.	Motion I: Nominations and Elections Process	
Respor	ses to Previous Church Council Actions	
X.	Racial Justice Ombudsperson Position	
Υ.	Declaration of the ELCA to the People of African Descent	
Respor	ses to Synod Actions	
Z.	Addressing Anti-Semitism in Lectionary Readings	
AA.	LGBTQ+ Programming for Events	
BB.	ELCA Support for the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act	
CC.	ELCA Name Change	
DD.	Adoption of Gender Inclusive Language	
EE.	Guidance on Retired/Retiring Ministers from the Roster of the ELCA	
FF.	Concurrent Calling of Pastors by More than One Congregation	
GG.	Extending Pastoral Counseling through Private Practice	
HH. II.	Paid Leave for Rostered Ministers	
и. IJ.	Preferred Vendors and Privacy	
	IESS	
	REFLECTION ON FAITH	
	THE BOARD DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE	
		4
	THE SECOND BALLOT FOR THE THIRD AT-LARGE MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (LAY WOMAN OR NON-	.
	RSON)	
	BSERVATION	
ANNOUNCE	MENTS	47

Adjournment	42
Plenary Session VII	43
CALL TO ORDER	
DEBRIEF OF THE 2022 CHURCHWIDE ASSEMBLY	43
REPORT OF THE TREASURER	
REPORT OF THE BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE	43
REVISIONS TO FY23 SPENDING AUTHORIZATION	43
AUDIT OF THE 2022 FISCAL YEAR	
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE	44
PROCESS AND TIMELINE TO ESTABLISH COMMISSION FOR A RENEWED LUTHERAN CHURCH	44
Announcements	
EVALUATION AND DEBRIEFING	47
Announcements	
Adjournment	47

EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA CHURCH COUNCIL

MINUTES Nov. 10-13, 2022

The 113th meeting of the Church Council of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America (ELCA) convened Nov. 10–13, 2022, in the Lutheran Center in Chicago, Ill.

The Executive Committee of the Church Council met Thursday morning, Nov. 10, followed by worship with Holy Communion. The Rev. Marcus A. Bigott presided, and the Rev. Tara R. Lynn preached. Ms. Lori S. Fedyk, treasurer of the ELCA, served as assisting minister, and Mr. David M. Lenz served as lector.

ORGANIZATION OF THE MEETING

The following people were present for all or part of the meeting:

Voting members

Officers:

The Rev. Elizabeth A. Eaton, presiding bishop

Mr. Imran Siddiqui, vice president Deacon Sue E. Rothmeyer, secretary

Ms. Lori S. Fedyk, treasurer

Chair of the Conference of Bishops:

The Rev. Tracie L. Bartholomew, bishop of the New Jersey Synod

Church Council:

The Rev. A. Elizabeth (Lisa) Ahlness (excused) Mr. Rindra Josoa

Mr. Kevin Anderson The Rev. Gwendolyn S. King Ms. Tracey A. Beasley Mr. David M. Lenz

The Rev. Marcus A. Bigott The Rev. Tara R. Lvnn The Rev. Nicholas M. Billardello III Ms. Olivia L. Martin-Call Ms. Susan Boxberger Mr. Mitch S. McCartney

The Rev. Heather E. Brown Mr. Joel A. Miller Ms. Jamie Bruesehoff (excused) Mr. Ethan G. Miller-Perez The Rev. William H. Callister Mr. Keoni Newman The Rev. Leroy Cannon Deacon Kari A. Olsen

The Rev. Karn S. Carroll Mr. Iván A. Pérez Ms. Divine Ms. Linda C. Rivera The Rev. Joanne E. Engquist (excused) Mr. Noah F. Roux

Ms. Kerry A. Fehrman Ms. Valerie J. Shaw Ms. Sheena R. Foster Ms. Andraine A. Sinaga Mr. Hans W. Giller Mr. Loren A. Solberg

The Rev. Emily C. Hartner The Rev. Kjersten L. Sullivan (excused)

Ms. Kristy K. Henriksen Ms. Loni Taylor (excused) Ms. Jennifer E. Trom

The Rev. Pamela J. Hoh (excused)

Ms. Cherrish Holland

Representatives of the Conference of Bishops:

Bp. Brenda K. Bos, Region 2 Bp. Patricia J. Lull, Region 3

Bp. Sue J. Briner, Region 4 Bp. Paula J. Schmitt, Region 8 (excused) Bp. Yehiel Curry, Region 5 (excused) Bp. Pedro M. Suárez, Region 9 (excused)

Bp. Christopher deForest, Region 7 (excused) Bp. Shelley R. Wickstrom, Region 1

Bp. Donald M. Kreiss, Region 6

Advisory members of the Church Council:

(These persons were made advisory members of the Church Council during the course of the meeting.)

The Rev. Khader N. El-Yateem, president, Association of Lutherans of Arab and Middle Eastern Heritage

Mr. Roberto Lara Aranda, president of the Asociación de Ministerios Latinos de la ELCA

The Rev. Moses P. Penumaka, president-elect, Association of Asian and Pacific Islanders

Ms. Shari Seifert, president, European Descent Lutheran Association for Racial Justice

Ms. Kelly Sherman-Conroy, representative, American Indian and Alaska Native Lutheran Association

The Rev. Lamont A. Wells, president, African Descent Lutheran Association

Churchwide Staff Resource People:

Office of the Presiding Bishop:

Ms. Jennifer G. DeLeon, director for racial justice

Ms. Victoria Flood, director for Mission Support

Ms. Jocelyn Fuller, senior director for strategic communications

The Rev. Louise N. Johnson, executive for administration

Ms. Rhondean Johnson, executive for people solutions and diversity, equity, and inclusion

Ms. Kathryn M. Lohre, executive for ecumenical and inter-religious relations and theological discernment

Ms. Judith E. Roberts, senior director for diversity, equity, and inclusion

Deacon Mary Ann Schwabe, executive for synod relations

Ms. Jodi L. Slattery, executive for governance

Ms. Mary J. Streufert, director for gender justice and women's empowerment & director for Quality of Call Initiative

The Rev. Roger A. Willer, director for theological ethics

Ms. Rachel K. Wind, executive for development

Office of the Secretary:

Mr. Thomas A. Cunniff, general counsel

Mr. Daniel F. Eppley, official documentation manager

Ms. Aja M. Favors, associate general counsel

The Rev. N. Keith Fry, executive for Office of the Secretary administration

Christian Community and Leadership:

The Rev. Philip C. Hirsch, executive director

The Rev. Sara A. Cutter, senior director for operational effectiveness

Ms. Evelvn Soto, senior director for resources and relationships

Deacon John E. Weit, executive for worship

Service and Justice:

The Rev. Rafael Malpica-Padilla, executive director

The Rev. Barbara Lund, senior director for operations and innovation

Innovation

Mr. Iain Chester, executive director (excused)

Media:

Ms. Candice Hill Buchbinder, public relations manager

Separately Incorporated Ministries:

Mr. Tim Blevins, president and CEO, 1517 Media (excused)

Ms. Linda Post Bushkofsky, executive director, Women of the ELCA (excused)

Ms. Eva M. Roby, president and CEO, Mission Investment Fund

Ms. Annette Shoemaker, interim president and CEO, ELCA Foundation

The Rev. Jeffrey D. Thiemann, president and CEO, Portico Benefit Services

Ecumenical Guests:

The Rev. Mark Goodman, The Episcopal Church

The Rev. Betsy Miller, Moravian Church in North America

Thursday, Nov. 10, 2022 PLENARY SESSION I

CALL TO ORDER AND ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

(Agenda I.A.)

Mr. Imran Siddiqui, vice president of the ELCA and chair of the Church Council, called the meeting to order at 3:30 p.m. (CST). Agenda items were distributed electronically. He welcomed council members and guests. The Rev. Elizabeth A. Eaton, presiding bishop of the ELCA, opened the meeting with prayer.

Vice President Siddiqui began by acknowledging that the meeting was held on the original and ancestral homelands of the Kickapoo, Peoria, Kaskaskia, Potawatomi, Miami, Ho-Chunk, and Ochethi Sakowin peoples and calling on those assembled to remember and honor all Indigenous siblings who have and continue to call this land their home. He then invited the Church Council and liaison bishops to introduce themselves.

A motion was made to adopt the agenda.

There being no discussion, the chair called for the vote.

VOTED:

CC22.11.26 To adopt the agenda and to permit the chair to call for consideration of agenda items in the order the chair deems most appropriate.

REPORT OF THE PRESIDING BISHOP

(Agenda I.B.)

Presiding Bishop Eaton began by welcoming council members and thanking them for answering the call to serve. The reports of the various offices show that this church has been busy, including adjusting to new hybrid working situations. This church has been responding to several challenges around the globe. Bishop Eaton reported that \$11.7 million had been received for support of those impacted by the war in Ukraine and she would be traveling the following week to Poland as part of a delegation from the Lutheran World Federation working alongside the Lutheran churches there as they seek to resettle refuges from Ukraine. In particular, there is a focus on helping people of color coming out of Ukraine, who often do not receive support from other places. Another disaster that is unfolding is the threat of starvation facing half a million people in the Horn of Africa, and the ELCA is responding to provide support.

Presiding Bishop Eaton welcomed ecumenical guests and thanked Mr. Siddiqui for accepting the call to serve as vice president. She then provided an update on her recent visit to the Sierra Pacific Synod.

The Churchwide Assembly gave the Church Council and the churchwide organization a great deal of work that will have a profound impact on this church, including implementation of the Churchwide Assembly actions related to the Land Back movement and the Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church. The presiding bishop discussed the need to refocus the efforts of churchwide organization staff in order to achieve stated goals and noted that not all initiatives need to originate in the churchwide organization. Synods and congregations can also take the lead in finding innovative ways to make the gospel accessible in the modern context.

REPORT OF THE VICE PRESIDENT

(Agenda I.C.)

Vice President Siddiqui ceded the chair to Presiding Bishop Eaton, who invited Vice President Siddiqui to present his report. The vice president noted that he has been very busy preparing for his new role and thanked churchwide organization staff for their support. He provided a biographical sketch to introduce himself to council members, particularly his journey to the ELCA and his current position. He stressed the importance of listening to each other as the council carries out its work.

Following the report, Presiding Bishop Eaton returned the chair to Vice President Siddiqui.

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

(Agenda I.D.)

On behalf of the Executive Committee, Vice President Siddiqui reported that, at its most recent meeting, the Executive Committee received a report from Ms. Judith E. Roberts, senior director for diversity, equity, and inclusion, who shared information about diversity goals and strategies from the synods over the past year. He also called attention to some of the numerous actions that will be coming before the Church Council.

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES

(Agenda I.D.1.)

At its August 2022 meeting, the Church Council ratified provisional membership for the five standing committees of the Church Council: Budget and Finance; Christian Community and Leadership; Faith, Society, and Innovation; Legal and Constitutional Review; and Service and Justice [CC22.04.02].

Following the 2022 Churchwide Assembly, newly elected Church Council members indicated their committee preferences. At its September 2022 meeting, the Executive Committee completed its review of the requests and recommended ratification by the Church Council of the appointments made during the first plenary session of the Executive Committee's November 2022 meeting [EC22.09.24].

The appointments are as follows:

- Budget and Finance Committee: The Rev. Lisa Ahlness, the Rev. Heather Brown, Mr. Rindra Josoa, and Deacon Kari Olsen.
- Legal and Constitutional Review Committee: The Rev. Leroy Cannon, Mr. Mitch McCartney, and Ms. Jennifer Trom.
- Faith, Society, and Innovation Committee: Ms. Jamie Bruesehoff, the Rev. Gwendolyn King, Ms. Olivia Martin-Call, and Mr. Ethan Miller-Perez.
- Christian Community and Leadership Committee: Ms. Sheena Foster, Mr. Hans Giller, Mr. Joel Miller, and Ms. Linda Rivera.
- Service and Justice Committee: Ms. Kristy Henriksen, Mr. Iván Pérez, and Ms. Andraine Sinaga.

New members of the Board Development Committee for the 2022–2025 triennium were approved by the Executive Committee [EC22.10.27b]. The persons appointed were: The Rev. Heather Brown, Mr. Hans Giller, and Ms. Linda Rivera.

Resource Development Committee appointments will come to a future Executive Committee meeting. Appointments for the Audit Committee will come through the Budget and Finance Committee.

A motion was made to ratify the appointments.

There being no discussion, the chair called for the vote.

VOTED:

CC22.11.27 To ratify the appointments to the Church Council standing committees for the 2022–2025 triennium.

PROCESS TO ELECT MEMBERS TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

(Agenda I.D.2.)

At the first meeting after the Churchwide Assembly, the Church Council elects a new Executive Committee. In addition to the four officers of this church and the chair of the Conference of Bishops, eight members of the Church Council will serve on this committee for the 2022–2025 triennium.

To facilitate the Executive Committee's work between regular meetings by ensuring input and perspectives from each of its standing committees, the chairs of those committees are elected to the Executive Committee. This was acted upon at the Spring 2022 Church Council meeting [CC22.04.03].

The remaining three members of the Executive Committee will be selected through the following process:

- a. The first ballot shall be a ballot for the following identified categories:
 - 1). Lay Person of Color/Primary Language Other Than English (one position). Vote for only one eligible nominee.
 - 2). Rostered Man or Non-Binary Person (one position). Vote for only one eligible nominee.
- b. A third category will be determined after the election of the first two categories are determined (one position). Vote for only one eligible nominee.
- c. After the first ballot for the first two categories, anyone wishing to withdraw may do so prior to the established deadline.
- d. The second ballot for the first two categories shall be conducted first. Each ticket will be limited to the two people (plus ties) receiving the greatest number of nominations on the first ballot who have not withdrawn. The one candidate receiving the highest number of votes cast on each ticket shall be elected.

- e. The third unidentified category shall then be determined by the Executive Committee. The first ballot for the third category will occur Saturday afternoon, Nov. 12. The deadline for nominees to withdraw will be announced before the second ballot is conducted.
- f. The second ballot shall be limited to the two people (plus ties) receiving the greatest number of nominations on the first ballot who have not withdrawn. The one candidate receiving the highest number of votes cast shall be elected.
- g. Upon completion of the balloting, the Executive Committee shall be deemed constituted.

This process is an amended form of the process that was originally proposed by the Executive Committee, thus the motion is to affirm the amended process.

Secretary Rothmeyer moved ratification of the amended process to elect members to the Executive Committee.

Vice President Siddiqui and Mr. Kevin Anderson, member of the Executive Committee, clarified that the intention of the process was to ensure that one rostered man, one lay man or non-binary person, and one lay woman or non-binary person were elected.

VOTED:

CC22.11.28 To affirm the amended process for the election of the Executive Committee for the 2022-2025 triennium.

SYNOD VISITS BY CHURCH COUNCIL MEMBERS

(Agenda I.D.3.)

Since its November 2005 meeting, the Church Council has committed itself to building relationships between the churchwide organization and synods, congregations, and institutions and agencies.

At its November 2007 meeting, the Church Council voted [CC07.11.65]:

To recall that, concerning changes in governance of this church, the 2005 Churchwide Assembly voted [CA05.06.21]: "To encourage greater interaction of members of the Church Council with synodical councils and synodical assemblies in their respective areas";

To urge members of the Church Council to accept this responsibility and interact with their own synods and their partner synods in various ways, including attending at least one Synod Council meeting per year and participating in Synod Assemblies, especially in years when a synod is considering nominations to the Church Council; and

To note that expenses for attending Synod Council meetings and Synod Assemblies will be reimbursed by the churchwide organization in accordance with the ELCA travel policy.

Members of the Church Council now make the commitment, as available, to be in contact with specific synods during the triennium. Current suggested commitments are listed in "Other Documents" of the November 2022 Church Council materials. A summary of reports of these contacts is available under "Other Documents" as well.

Members of the Church Council will be invited to review the commitments during the November 2022 meeting. After the review is complete, the document will be revised and distributed.

Secretary Rothmeyer moved adoption of the motion.

Ms. Jodi L. Slattery, executive for governance, reminded council members of the importance of being good stewards of the resources of this church in relating to synods and also reminded council members to fill out the synod visit report form following their visits to synods. Other details of the logistics of synod visits were clarified.

VOTED:

CC22.11.29 To acknowledge the commitment of the Church Council to have greater interaction of members of the Church Council with synod councils and synod assemblies in their respective areas;

To urge members of the Church Council to accept this responsibility and interact with their own synods and assigned synods in various ways, including attending at least one Synod Council meeting per year and participating in a Synod Assembly, especially in a year when a synod is considering nominations to the Church Council; and

To note that expenses for attending Synod Council meetings and Synod Assemblies will be reimbursed by the churchwide organization in accordance with the ELCA travel policy.

STEWARDSHIP CONVERSATION

(Agenda I.E.)

Ms. Cherrish Holland, chair of the Budget and Finance Committee, led the Church Council in a conversation about stewardship and tithing.

RECESS

(Agenda I.F.)

The first plenary session of the November 2022 Church Council meeting recessed at 4:49 p.m. (CST) and resumed at 5:00 p.m. (CST).

REPORT FROM THE CONFERENCE OF BISHOPS

(Agenda I.G.)

The Rev. Tracie L. Bartholomew, bishop of the New Jersey Synod and chair of the Conference of Bishops, called council members' attention to her written report. She expressed gratitude for the recent meeting of the Conference of Bishops and the opportunity it brought to celebrate congregations that are thriving as well as work to support those that are facing challenges. There is robust interest among the bishops in the Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church.

REPORT FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE TEAM

(Agenda I.H.)

The Rev. Phillip C. Hirsch, executive director for Christian community and leadership, introduced the report of the Administrative Team, beginning by reminding council members that the Administrative Team assists the presiding bishop in the operation and oversight of the churchwide organization. Pastor Hirsch provided the report of the Rev. Louise N. Johnson, executive for administration, who was unable to attend. The report discussed the Future Church initiative and how churchwide organization staff is supporting congregations and synods as they seek to bring the message of God's love in Christ to a younger and more diverse audience. In part, this involves a reprioritization of the activities of churchwide organization staff.

Ms. Rhondean Johnson, executive for people solutions and diversity, equity, and inclusion, outlined activities within People Solutions. Pastor Hirsch provided an update on the activities of the Christian Community and Leadership home area, highlighting recent work done to improve the process for vetting and approving rostered ministers. He also called the attention of council members to upcoming gatherings of ELCA rostered ministers (summer 2023) and ELCA youth and young adults (summer 2024).

Mr. Iain Chester, executive director for innovation, addressed the council electronically, providing an overview of the work of the Innovation home area, particularly: trying and evaluating new ideas; training and supporting staff to empower them to try and evaluate new ideas together; and helping this church to do data-driven assessment of programs. Ms. Rachel K. Wind, executive for development, shared her vision for development focused on telling the story of the ELCA to draw people into this church. Many outside funders are supporting the work of the ELCA as they see the good work this church is doing. The Rev. Barbara Lund, senior director for operations and innovation within the Service and Justice home area, addressed the council on behalf of the Rev. Rafael Malpica-Padilla, executive director for service and justice. She highlighted ways this church is responding to the several crises the world is facing, particularly to support communities that are often overlooked, sharing several stories to illustrate.

ECUMENICAL GREETING FROM THE EPISCOPAL CHURCH

(Agenda I.I.)

The Rev. Mark Goodman brought greetings to the council on behalf of The Episcopal Church.

PERSONAL REFLECTION ON FAITH

(Agenda I.J.)

Mr. Kevin Anderson offered personal reflections on his faith.

ADJOURNMENT

The first plenary session of the 113th meeting of the Church Council of the ELCA adjourned at 6:36 p.m. (CST) on Nov. 10, 2022, following prayer, announcements, and a hymn.

Friday, Nov. 11, 2022 PLENARY SESSION II

COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board Development Committee met beginning at 7:30 a.m. (CST) in the Lutheran Center. The Budget and Finance Committee, Christian Community and Leadership Committee, Faith, Society, and Innovation Committee, Legal and Constitutional Review Committee, and Service and Justice Committee met beginning at 9:00 a.m. (CST) in the Lutheran Center. Midday prayer was led by Ms. Valerie J. Shaw, followed by additional meetings of the Budget and Finance; Christian Community and Leadership; Faith, Society, and Innovation; Legal and Constitutional Review; and Service and Justice committees beginning at 2:00 p.m. (CST)

CALL TO ORDER

Vice President Siddiqui called the second plenary session to order at 4:00 p.m. (CST).

FIRST BALLOT FOR AT-LARGE MEMBERS OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (Agenda II.A.)

The first ballot for at-large members of the Executive Committee was held to elect one member in each of the following identified categories: Lay Person of Color/Primary Language Other Than English and Rostered Man or Non-Binary. Council members voted for one eligible nominee in each category. Following the balloting, Mr. Siddiqui paused to honor the Rev. Gwendolyn S. King and thank her for her service as a military chaplain, as it was Veterans Day.

GENDER AND RACIAL JUSTICE EDUCATION

(Agenda II.B.)

Ms. Mary J. Streufert, director for gender justice and women's empowerment, and Ms. Jennifer G. DeLeon, director for racial justice, led council members in an educational session focused on gender and racial justice.

PROCESS OBSERVATION

(Agenda II.C.)

Mr. Loren A. Solberg offered process observations from the first and second plenary sessions.

FIRST BALLOT RESULTS

(Agenda II.D.)

Mr. Thomas A. Cunniff, general counsel for the ELCA, announced the results of the first ballot for at-large members to the Executive Committee.

Executive Committee: Lay Person of Color/Primary Language Other than English:

12 votes:	Ms. Tracey A. Beasley	2 votes:	Ms. Sheena R. Foster
6 votes:	Mr. Keoni Newman	2 votes:	Ms. Valerie J. Shaw
4 votes:	Ms. Divine	1 vote:	Mr. Rindra Josoa
3 votes:	Mr. Iván A. Pérez	1 vote:	Ms. Andraine A. Sinaga
3 votes:	Ms. Linda Rivera	1 vote:	Ms. Loni Taylor

Executive Committee: Rostered Man or Non-Binary Person

23 votes:	The Rev. Marcus A. Bigott	3 votes:	The Rev. Leroy Cannon
7 votes:	The Rev. Nicholas M. Billardello III	1 vote:	The Rev. William H. Callister

ADJOURNMENT

The second plenary session of the 113th meeting of the Church Council of the ELCA adjourned at 7:00 p.m. (CST) on Nov. 11, 2022, following prayer and announcements.

Saturday, Nov. 12, 2022 PLENARY SESSION III

CALL TO ORDER

Vice President Siddiqui called the third plenary session to order at 9:02 a.m. (CST).

BIBLE STUDY

(Agenda III.A.)

The Rev. Carmelo Santos, director for theological diversity and ecumenical and inter-religious engagement, led council members in a Bible study focused on the nature of the Church as a creation of God. This study was designed to help council members prepare for discussion of the Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church in the fifth plenary session.

REPORT OF THE SECRETARY

(Agenda III.B.)

Secretary Rothmeyer noted the significant work done by the Churchwide Assembly and the many tasks the assembly had given to the Office of the Secretary. She highlighted some of the central points from her written report and provided additional information.

REPORT OF THE LEGAL AND CONSTITUTIONAL REVIEW COMMITTEE

(Agenda III.C.)

Information providing background to the report of the Legal and Constitutional Review Committee was distributed electronically prior to the meeting. Mr. Kevin Anderson, chair of the Legal and Constitutional Review Committee, provided an update on recent work of the committee. He called attention to several action items coming to the council from the committee.

ADVISORY MEMBERS OF THE CHURCH COUNCIL

(Agenda III.C.1.)

The several categories of advisory members of the Church Council were removed from the *Constitutions, Bylaws, and Continuing Resolutions of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America* by the 2009 Churchwide Assembly. The 2022 Churchwide Assembly approved a bylaw that allows the Church Council to designate categories of advisory members who would have voice but not vote at council meetings.

14.33.01. Advisory Members. Categories of advisory members may be designated by the Church Council. These categories shall be set forth in continuing resolutions. Advisory members shall have voice but not vote.

Over the past months, the Church Council Executive Committee has been discussing the possibility of restoring categories of advisory members of the council. After much discussion, the recommendation is to restore limited categories of advisory members to include the presidents (or a designated representative) of ELCA ethnic associations and a representative of Reconciling Works, an Independent Lutheran Organization (ILO) working for full inclusion of LGBTQIA+ Lutherans in this church. This continuing resolution would also allow for the status of the categories of advisory membership to be reviewed each triennium.

VOTED: Two-thirds required
CC22.11.30 To adopt the following amendment to the Constitution, Bylaws, and Continuing
Resolutions of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America:

14.33.A22. The Church Council shall have as advisory members each president, or the designated representative of the president, of the ELCA ethnic associations, as well as a representative of Reconciling Works. Advisory membership of the Church Council shall be reviewed each triennium.

CONTRACT FOR DIVERSITY, EQUITY, INCLUSION, AND ACCESSIBILITY ELCA GOVERNANCE AUDIT (Agenda III.C.2.)

The 2022 Churchwide Assembly directed the Church Council to "engage an external auditor to conduct a comprehensive audit for diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility of the *Constitutions, Bylaws, and Continuing Resolutions of the ELCA* and related governance documents." [CA22.04.26]

The report of the findings is to be presented at the Fall 2023 Church Council meeting and will then be shared with this church. The Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church may use the findings to recommend changes to the governing documents to the 2025 Churchwide Assembly.

Several council members asked for more detail on the qualifications of Fox Swibel Levin & Carroll LLP. These qualifications were elaborated on primarily by Mr. Thomas Cunniff, general counsel to the ELCA, and Ms. Aja Favors, associate general counsel to the ELCA.

VOTED:

CC22.11.31

To approve the engagement of Fox Swibel Levin & Carroll LLP to perform a diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility audit of the *Constitution, Bylaws, and Continuing Resolutions of the ELCA*, the Roster Manual, the ELCA Church Council Governance Policy Manual, and the *Definitions and Guidelines for Discipline*, with the total cost not to exceed \$100,000.

REPORT OF THE CHRISTIAN COMMUNITY AND LEADERSHIP COMMITTEE (Agenda III.D.)

The report of the Christian Community and Leadership Committee was distributed electronically prior to the meeting. The Rev. Nicholas M. Billardello III, member of the Christian Community and Leadership Committee, presented the report on behalf of the Rev. Kjersten L. Sullivan, chair of the Christian Community and Leadership Committee, who was unable to attend. Pastor Billardello summarized the work of the committee with particular attention on efforts to determine the elements that are essential for the preparation of rostered ministers. He also outlined several of the proposals coming from the committee to the council for possible action, calling particular attention to the proposal to revise the policies of this church regarding Synod-Authorized Worshiping Communities.

PERSONAL REFLECTION ON FAITH

(Agenda III.E.)

Ms. Susan Boxberger offered personal reflections on her faith.

ECUMENICAL GREETING FROM THE MORAVIAN CHURCH (Agenda III.F.)

The Rev. Betsy Miller, president of the Provincial Elders' Conference of the Moravian Church, Northern Province, brought greetings to the council on behalf of the Moravian Church in America.

ADJOURNMENT

The third plenary session of the 113th meeting of the Church Council of the ELCA adjourned at 10:48 a.m. (CST) on Nov. 12, 2022.

Saturday, Nov. 12, 2022, PLENARY SESSION IV

CALL TO ORDER AND EXECUTIVE SESSION

(Agenda IV.A.)

Vice President Siddiqui called the fourth plenary session to order at 11:00 a.m. (CST), and the Church Council immediately entered into executive session for a legal briefing. Minutes for meetings held in executive session are added to the protocol file in the Office of the Secretary. The council returned to open session at 11:22 a.m. (CST).

SECOND BALLOT FOR TWO CATEGORIES OF AT-LARGE MEMBERS TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (Agenda IV.B.)

The second ballot for the Lay Person of Color/Primary Language other than English category was limited to the two people (plus ties) receiving the greatest number of nominations on the first ballot for Lay Person of Color/Primary Language other than English who did not withdraw their names from consideration. The one nominee receiving the highest number of votes cast would be elected. The two nominees on the ballot were Ms. Tracey A. Beasley and Mr. Keoni Newman.

The second ballot for the Rostered Man category was limited to the two people (plus ties) receiving the greatest number of nominations on the first ballot for Rostered Man who did not withdraw their names from consideration. The one nominee receiving the highest number of votes would be elected. The two nominees on the ballot were the Rev. Marcus A. Bigott and the Rev. Nicholas M. Billardello III.

REPORT OF THE SERVICE AND JUSTICE COMMITTEE (Agenda IV.C.)

The report of the Service and Justice Committee was distributed electronically prior to the meeting. The Rev. Karn S. Carroll, member of the committee, offered the report on behalf of the Rev. Joanne E. Engquist, chair of the committee, who was unable to attend. Pastor Carroll summarized the reports received by the committee, highlighting the return next February of "Talks at the Desk," a YouTube series exploring the diverse expressions of this church led by the African Descent Ministries. She discussed with council members the five foci of the work of the committee: migration justice, economic justice, racial justice, gender justice, and environmental justice. She also reviewed action items being brought to the council by the committee.

REPORT OF THE FAITH, SOCIETY, AND INNOVATION COMMITTEE (Agenda IV.D.)

The report of the Faith, Society, and Innovation Committee was distributed electronically prior to the meeting. The Rev. Tara R. Lynn, chair of the Faith, Society, and Innovation Committee, reviewed the reports received by the committee and topics the committee is working to address.

RECONSIDERATION OF *HUMAN SEXUALITY: GIFT AND TRUST* (2009) (Agenda IV.D.1.)

This proposed action reflects the recommendation of the Rev. Roger A. Willer, director for theological ethics, who conducted several consultations, e.g., with the Conference of Bishops, and assessed realistically matters of timing, budget, staffing levels, and leadership capacity. The proposed action follows the protocol established in "Policies and Procedures of the ELCA for Addressing Social Concerns," established in 2018. In 2023, the process for the social statement on civic life and faith and other work underway in the Theological Ethics area exhausts current staffing and leadership availability. Further, to initiate a concurrent social statement process to reconsider aspects of *Human Sexuality: Gift and Trust* (2009) an associate director for theological ethics and additional administrative staff would need to be hired and other choices made regarding budget. The year's delay allows time for necessary groundwork to be laid for the sake of quality and integrity in the upcoming process. The recommended action also factors in the Churchwide Assembly's authorization of the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Church Council to approve the parameters and expense budget of this process and identify the revenue source(s) to provide for this editorial revision to be considered as early as the 2025 Churchwide Assembly. The task force is charged with two tasks by the 2022 Churchwide Assembly, and these will need to be approached in sequential phases with a proposed editorial reconsideration [CA22.01.07] being presented to the 2025 Churchwide Assembly and the proposed reconsideration of bound conscience [CA22.03.23] being presented to the 2028 Churchwide Assembly.

VOTED:

CC22.11.32

To direct the Office of the Presiding Bishop to manage the initiation of work on the reconsideration of *Human Sexuality: Gift and Trust* (2009), per authorization of the 2022 Churchwide Assembly, by delaying task force initiation to 2024 due to timing, budgetary, and leadership capacity demands.

PROCESS OBSERVATION

(Agenda IV.E.)

The Rev. Tara R. Lynn offered process observations from the third and fourth plenary sessions.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

(Agenda IV.F.)

Vice President Siddiqui announced the results of the second ballot for two categories of at-large membership on the Executive Committee.

Executive Committee: Lay Person of Color/Primary Language Other than English:

22 votes: Mr. Keoni Newman 15 votes: Ms. Tracey A. Beasley

Mr. Keoni Newman was elected to the Executive Committee.

Executive Committee: Rostered Man or Non-Binary Person:

19 votes The Rev. Marcus A. Bigott

18 votes The Rev. Nicholas M. Billardello III

The Rev. Marcus A. Bigott was elected to the Executive Committee.

Vice President Siddiqui announced that the first ballot to determine the final at-large member of the Executive Committee would be held during the fifth plenary session in the category of Lay Woman or Non-Binary Person. Secretary Rothmeyer provided other announcements.

ADJOURNMENT

The fourth plenary session of the 113th meeting of the Church Council of the ELCA adjourned at 12:07 p.m. (CST) on Nov. 12, 2022, following a hymn and prayer.

Saturday, Nov. 12, 2022 PLENARY SESSION V

SEPARATELY INCORPORATED MINISTRIES PRESENTATIONS

During the lunch break, Church Council members attended presentations hosted by the Separately Incorporated Ministries of the ELCA.

CALL TO ORDER

Vice President Siddiqui called the fifth plenary session to order at 2:00 p.m. (CST).

FIRST BALLOT FOR THE FINAL AT-LARGE MEMBER TO EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (LAY WOMAN OR NON-BINARY PERSON)

(Agenda V.A.)

The first ballot for the final at-large member to the Executive Committee was held to elect one Lay Woman or Non-Binary Person. Council members voted for one eligible nominee.

CONVERSATION ON COMMISSION FOR A RENEWED LUTHERAN CHURCH (Agenda V.B.)

The 2022 Churchwide Assembly acted to direct the Church Council to establish a Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church.

The action read, in part, "To direct the Church Council to establish a Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church comprised of leaders of diverse representation from all three expressions that, working in consultation with the Conference of Bishops and the Church Council, shall reconsider the statements of purpose for each of the expressions of this church, the principles of its organizational structure, and all matters pertaining thereunto, being particularly attentive to our shared commitment to dismantle racism, and will present its findings and recommendations to the 2025 Churchwide Assembly in preparation for a possible reconstituting convention to be called under the rules for a special meeting of the Churchwide Assembly." [CA22.01.06]

A proposal and timeline for structuring the Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church was developed by the Executive Committee and was reviewed by the Legal and Constitutional Review Committee in consultation with the Office of the Secretary. The proposal was distributed to council members electronically prior to the meeting.

Mr. Kevin Anderson, chair of the Legal and Constitutional Review Committee, led a wide-ranging discussion of the size of the Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church and the process to be used to select voting members of the commission. Mr. Anderson introduced the discussion by emphasizing the importance of broad representation on the commission. The discussion was structured around three questions:

- What are council members' hopes for the commission?
- What should be the size of the commission?
- What is the most appropriate way to select the members of the commission?

Following extensive discussions within small groups, suggestions for a variety of commission sizes and selection processes were shared with the entire council, with proposed commission sizes ranging from 25 to 50 persons.

FIRST BALLOT FOR LAY WOMAN OR NON-BINARY PERSON RESULTS

Vice President Siddiqui announced the results of the first ballot for the lay woman or non-binary person appointment to the Executive Committee. The results were:

21 votes:Ms. Tracey A Beasley1 vote:Ms. Kerry A. Fehrman7 votes:Ms. Susan Boxberger1 vote:Ms. Sheena R. Foster3 votes:Ms. Divine1 vote:Ms. Jennifer E. Trom2 votes:Ms. Valerie J. Shaw

Vice President Siddiqui announced that those wishing to withdraw their names from consideration must do so prior to the beginning of the sixth plenary session at 4:00 p.m. (CST), Nov. 12, 2022.

EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA CHURCH COUNCIL Nov. 10–13, 2022

MINUTES, page 14

ADJOURNMENT

The fifth plenary session of 113th meeting of the Church Council of the ELCA adjourned at 3:26 p.m. (CST) on Nov. 12, 2022.

Saturday, Nov. 12, 2022 PLENARY SESSION VI

CALL TO ORDER

Vice President Siddiqui called the sixth plenary session to order at 3:59 p.m. (CST).

SECOND BALLOT FOR THE FINAL AT-LARGE MEMBER OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (LAY WOMAN OR NON-BINARY PERSON)

The second ballot for the final at-large member to the Executive Committee was held to elect one Lay Woman or Non-Binary Person. The two nominees were Ms. Tracey A. Beasley and Ms. Susan Boxberger. Council members voted for one eligible nominee.

REPORT OF THE CHURCH COUNCIL YOUTH AND YOUNG ADULT WORKING GROUP (Agenda VI.A.)

Mr. Keoni Newman, a member of the Church Council Youth and Young Adult Working Group, provided a report on behalf of the group. Mr. Newman outlined the origins of the working group with a focus on its role in helping the ELCA to reach the goal of engaging one million new, young, and diverse members. He called particular attention to the young adult "Gather" groups that are regionally-based rather than congregation-based, and which allow this church to engage young adults where they are rather than waiting until they come through the doors of a church building. He emphasized the importance the working group places on having significant representation of youth and young adults on the Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church.

CONSIDERATION OF ITEMS REMOVED FROM *EN BLOC* (Agenda VI.B.)

Vice President Siddiqui called on Secretary Rothmeyer to announce any items that had been removed from *en bloc*. The secretary reported that there was one item, the consideration of the revisions to the "Churchwide Organization Personnel Policies."

CHURCHWIDE ORGANIZATION PERSONNEL POLICIES

The 2022 Churchwide Assembly voted to affirm the commitment of the churchwide organization to limit the use of non-disclosure agreements to the small minority of cases in which they are truly necessary to protect confidential and sensitive materials related to donors, personnel, legal, information technology, and similar categories, and to direct the Church Council to update the "Churchwide Organization Personnel Policies" to appropriately limit the use of non-disclosure agreements in a manner consistent with this limitation.

At its September meeting, the Executive Committee referred the Churchwide Assembly action concerning separation agreements to the Office of the Presiding Bishop [EC22.09.23b7]. The assembly action directed the Church Council to update the "Churchwide Organization Personnel Policies" to appropriately limit the use to non-disclosure agreements consistent with the assembly's action. [CA22.03.14]

In response, the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Office of the Secretary proposed an update to the "Churchwide Organization Personnel Policies." The updated personnel policies were as follows:

10.7 Non-Disclosure Provisions

The ELCA limits the use of non-disclosure provisions to the small minority of cases in which they are truly necessary to protect confidential and sensitive materials related to donors, personnel, legal, information technology, and similar categories of information.

A Church Council member asked for clarification regarding the types of information that would be subject to non-disclosure agreements. Mr. Cunniff and Ms. Favors clarified that such provisions would be limited to information that the organization is legally and ethically required to protect (such as the personal information of donors) as well as information that would render the organization vulnerable to attack (such as cybersecurity systems).

VOTED:

CC22.11.33

To approve the amended Churchwide Organization Personnel Policies; and To authorize the Office of the Secretary to make any necessary editorial corrections for accuracy.

The Rev. Gwendolyn S. King requested that her abstention be recorded.

EN BLOC APPROVAL OF CERTAIN ITEMS

(Agenda VI.C.)

The *en bloc* resolution includes agenda items that were judged to be non-controversial in nature and did not require plenary discussion and a separate vote. As the items were voted on *en bloc*, there was no discussion. The vice president called for the vote.

VOTED:

CC22.11.34

To take action *en bloc* on the remaining items listed in *En Bloc* Items, Responses to Churchwide Assembly Actions, Responses to Synod Actions, and Responses to Previous Church Council Actions.

ACTIONS OF THE CHURCH COUNCIL

A. Audit Committee Report

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.a To approve the report of the ELCA Audit Committee describing its review of the audited financial statements for the churchwide organization's fiscal year ended January 31, 2022.

B. Mission Development Fund Policy

In 2006, the Church Council approved the establishment of a Mission Development Fund (MDF) as seed money for new and innovative ministries and in support of priorities at the request of the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Treasurer.

Several revisions to the MDF policy were approved by the Budget and Finance Committee at its July 2022 meeting and forwarded to Church Council for action.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.b. To approve the revisions to the 2006 Church Council Action CC06.11.38 for the Mission Development Fund as presented in the "Mission Development Fund Policy."

C. Post-Retirement Medical Benefits

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.c. To transfer the excess liability in the amount of \$622,977.90 which represents the excess accrual for Post-Retirement Medical Benefits to the Designated Fund for Budgeted Operations Support.

D. Completion of COVID-19 Response Fund

At the April 2020 Church Council meeting, a special appeal in response to COVID-19 was approved as a fundraising effort of this church. [CC20.04.09]

The fundraising effort successfully raised \$2,112,429 to support this church's congregations, synods, and other affiliate ministries that had been negatively impacted by the pandemic. No new monies are coming in for the appeal and there are other urgent fundraising priorities, so the recommendation is to close the COVID-19 special appeal.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.d. To approve the completion of the special appeal in response to COVID-19; and To thank this church's members, congregations, synods, churchwide organization, and other institutions and agencies for their generous support.

E. Revisions to the ELCA Governance Policy Manual

At the 2022 Churchwide Assembly, a bylaw was adopted that allowed the Church Council to designate categories for advisory members to have voice but not vote at Council meetings. This necessitates amendments to the ELCA Governance Policy Manual.

In accordance with the manual, "Proposed amendments shall be reviewed by the Executive Committee in consultation with the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Office of the Secretary in advance of presentation for action to the Church Council. Any Church Council member, liaison bishop, or churchwide staff member may suggest amendments by submitting proposals to the Executive Committee. Amendments will be adopted by majority vote of the Church Council and become effective immediately upon adoption."

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.e. To approve the revisions to the ELCA Church Council Governance Policy Manual; and To authorize the Office of the Secretary to make any necessary editorial corrections for accuracy.

F. Proposed Bylaw Amendments for Portico Benefit Services

The Church Council is responsible for approving Portico Benefit Services amendments that involve a significant change in policy or a significant change in cost or benefits and shall approve trust amendments initiated by Portico Benefit Services ["Portico"].

Pending Portico's Board of Trustees approval, the proposed changes are to be considered by the Church Council. The proposed amendments, including the rationale, can be found in the exhibits for this meeting.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.f. To approve the proposed amendments to the Restated Bylaws of the Board of Pensions of the ELCA as listed in the "Portico Bylaws Changes Nov 2022" document.

G. Proposed Bylaw Amendment for Lenoir-Rhyne University

In August 2022, the Lenoir-Rhyne University Board of Directors approved a bylaw amendment that was fully supported by the chair of the Lutheran Theological Southern Seminary (LTSS) Advisory Council. The proposed amendments are submitted for approval by the Church Council in accordance with ELCA bylaw 8.21.02. The proposed amendment replaces the university president with the vice president of mission, engagement, and innovation as the *ex-officio* voting member on the LTSS Advisory Council (p. 15). The proposed amendment can be found in the exhibits for this meeting.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.g. To approve the amended bylaws of Lenoir-Rhyne University.

H. Synod Constitution Amendments

Provision 10.12 of the Constitution, Bylaws, and Continuing Resolutions of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America stipulates: "Each synod shall have a constitution, which shall become effective upon ratification by the Church Council. Amendments thereto shall be subject to like ratification..."

The amendments to the Metropolitan Chicago Synod Constitution can be found in the exhibits for this meeting.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.h. To ratify the amendments in the constitution of the Metropolitan Chicago Synod, with the exception of the following provisions:

- S6.04.03.
- S9.05.
- S9.06.
- S9.07.
- S10.01.02.
- S10.01.03.

To request that the secretary of this church notify the synod of this action.

I. Proposed Bylaw Amendment for United Lutheran Seminary

The United Lutheran Seminary Board of Trustees reviewed several bylaw amendments. Those amendments include removing gender-specific terms (pronouns), which lead in certain cases to rephrasing, adding clarifying language, further codifying Shared Governance, and removing language related to the Seminary Ridge Historic Preservation Foundation. In the case of the latter, the seminary's Governance, Infrastructure, and Policy Committee felt it appropriate to remove the entire second paragraph in Chapter 3 as unnecessarily specific. The proposed amendments can be found in the exhibits for this meeting.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.i. To approve the amended bylaws of United Lutheran Seminary.

J. Assessment and Feasibility of Social Message Processes

At this time, there are three pending requests for social messages, two of which come from the 2022 Churchwide Assembly. It is the recommendation of the director for theological ethics to delay action on these requests until the Spring 2023 Church Council meeting. A social message on climate care is in process, which fully occupies the churchwide organization staffing and churchwide capacity until brought to Church Council for consideration in Spring 2023. Further, it has not been possible to do the groundwork or assessment necessary to bring a clear recommendation regarding all the pending requests. Such assessment and recommendation are anticipated by the Spring 2023 Church Council meeting.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.j.

To defer the questions of developing social messages on U.S. national gun policy or on child abuse and protection and of considering the authorization of a revision of the "Message on Homelessness" (1990) until the Spring 2023 Church Council meeting to allow for a careful and thorough assessment of each issue, staff capacity, and finances; and

To request that the secretary of this church notify the synods of this action.

K. Corporate Social Responsibility Documents

The Church Council is responsible for reviewing this church's ongoing work in corporate social responsibility. The Service and Justice Committee reviewed three issue papers and one new social criteria investment screen.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.k.

To approve the amendments to the following corporate social responsibility documents to serve as the basis for ongoing corporate social responsibility work in this church:

- Sustainability Issue Paper
- Domestic Access to Capital Issue Paper
- Genetics Issue Paper;

To approve the "Privatized Immigration Detention Social Criteria Investment Screen;" and

To request that the original issue papers be archived for historical and research purposes.

L. Policy on Criteria for Synodically-Authorized Worshiping Communities

In accordance with ELCA Constitution bylaw 10.01.04, "the synod—in keeping with criteria, policies, and procedures proposed by the secretary of this church, after consultation with the appropriate churchwide unit or units, and approved by the Church Council—may acknowledge certain authorized worshiping communities such as developing ministries, preaching points, or chapels as related to the synod and part of the synod's life and mission."

The 2003 policy is in conflict with current practice and later policy documents, so the recommendation is to repeal the policy and develop a new one.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.l. To repeal the 2003 Policy on Criteria for Synodically-Authorized Worshiping Communities; and

To direct the Christian Community and Leadership home area, in consultation with the Office of the Secretary, to consider a new policy to be reviewed by the Conference of Bishops and approved by the Church Council.

M. Approval of the Minutes

The minutes of the Church Council meetings on Mar. 31–Apr. 2, 2022, June 27, 2022, and Aug. 7, 2022 were provided to council members electronically.

The minutes of the council's Executive Committee meetings on Mar. 31–Apr. 2, 2022, Apr. 26, 2022, June 28, 2022, Aug. 7, 2022, Sept. 13, 2022, and Oct. 13, 2022 have been provided electronically to members.

Council members were asked to provide any notations or typographical errors in the distributed text of the minutes in writing to the executive for Office of the Secretary administration (Keith.Fry@elca.org). Proper corrections were entered into the protocol copies of the minutes. Such corrections need not be raised in the plenary session in connection with the approval of the minutes.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.m. To approve the minutes of the Mar. 31–Apr. 2, 2022, June 27, 2022, and Aug. 7, 2022 meetings of the Church Council; and

To ratify actions of the council's Executive Committee as indicated in the minutes of the Mar. 31–Apr. 2, 2022, Apr. 26, 2022, June 28, 2022, Aug. 7, 2022, Sept. 13, 2022, and Oct. 13, 2022 meetings.

N. Issuance of Church Council Letters of Call

In 2008, the Church Council acted to grant the secretary of this church the authority to issue letters of call on behalf of the Church Council for those calls listed in the *Tables of Sources of Calls* for which the Church Council is described as the calling body.

In order to more closely parallel the process for issuance of letters of call by synod councils and congregations, and to ensure that authority for calls is more broadly shared by the Church Council, the secretary recommended that this responsibility be given to the Executive Committee. This action rescinds the earlier authority granted to the secretary.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.n.

To authorize the Executive Committee of the Church Council to issue letters of call on behalf of the Church Council for rostered ministers in accordance with the *Tables of Sources of Calls* in Chapter 7 of the *Constitution, Bylaws, and Continuing Resolutions of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America*; and

To note that this action supersedes Church Council action CC08.04.19.

O. Church Council Nominations and Elections

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.01. To elect to the board of directors of Lutheran School of Theology at Chicago to a term beginning Oct. 1, 2022, and expiring Sept. 30, 2024: Mr. DeWayne A. Cook.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.02. To re-elect to the board of directors of Wartburg Theological Seminary to a term beginning Jan. 1, 2023, and expiring Dec. 31, 2028: Ms. Elizabeth L. Jones.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.03. To elect to the advisory board of Trinity Lutheran Seminary at Capital University to a term beginning July 1, 2022, and expiring June 30, 2025: The Rev. Stephen D. Wachtman.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.04. To elect to the Committee of Hearing Officers to a six-term beginning November 2022: Mr. Arundel T. Clarke.

EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA CHURCH COUNCIL Nov. 10–13, 2022

MINUTES, page 20

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.05. To elect to the Mission Investment Fund Board of Trustees to a term expiring in August 2025: Mr. Randall S. Foster.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.06.

To elect to the Board of Directors of National Lutheran Campus Ministry, Inc. for a renewable four-year term beginning in March 2023 and concluding March 2027: The Rev. Michael J. Vinson.

RESPONSES TO CHURCHWIDE ASSEMBLY ACTIONS

P. Fortifying Urban Ministries

Churchwide Assembly Action [CA22.01.08]

To receive with gratitude the memorial on "Fortifying Ministries in Underserved Urban Areas" from the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod;

To affirm the strategic direction of the ELCA Fund for Leaders ministry to enhance the capacity of people of color through its disbursement of scholarships to Theological Education for Emerging Ministries candidates;

To refer this memorial to the Congregational Vitality Training and Development Team in the Christian Community and Leadership home area to create a churchwide Urban Ministry group, in partnership with the appropriate leaders in the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod, to accompany ELCA synods in their urban strategies that lead to the enhancement of congregational vitality and ministry sustainability in the urban context. The group will 1) collaborate with other studies already underway, 2) resource synods by gathering best practices in urban ministry and emerging ideas in the care and creative use of church facilities, 3) identify supportive networks within this church and among ecumenical partners, and 4) encourage piloting innovative ways to address the realities and complexities of urban ministry, including enhancing urban internship opportunities. The group may consider additional topics as needed:

To request that the churchwide Urban Ministry group consult with and provide regular reports to the Church Council to ensure that the purposes and objectives of this memorial are being fulfilled; and

To provide a final report to the 2025 Churchwide Assembly on the results of its study, new urban initiatives, and ways for this church to fortify the witness and service among people and communities in underserved urban areas.

Executive Committee Action [EC22.09.23b3]

To refer the 2022 Churchwide Assembly action on "Fortifying Urban Ministries in Underserved Urban Areas" to the Christian Community and Leadership home area for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Christian Community and Leadership home area (November 2022)

The responsibility for the implementation of this memorial has been assigned to the Christian Community and Leadership (CCL) home area. The Rev. Sandra Chrostowski, senior director, congregational vitality and new ministry training and development, and the Rev. Ruben Duran, senior advisor for new ministry development, have been appointed as conveners of a churchwide organization group to address this memorial on urban ministry, in partnership with leaders in the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod who sent this memorial forward and who also passed a similar resolution on urban ministry for their synod.

Two initial action steps have been taken:

- 1. An initial consultation with the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod staff has taken place. The synod has appointed the Rev. Regina Goodrich, pastor of Mediator Lutheran Church, Philadelphia, Penn. and dean of the synod's Central Conference, and the Rev. Brian Pennan, the synod's director for evangelical mission, as *ad hoc* members of the Synod Task Force for Urban Ministry. They are identifying members for this task force and are planning to meet for the first time in early November.
- 2. Pastors Chrostowski and Duran have begun to develop criteria for the selection of participants for the churchwide group on urban ministry, including representation from the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod leadership. The intention is to have group membership finalized in December and to begin convening in early 2023.

VOTED: CC22.11.34.p.

EN BLOC

To receive the response on "Fortifying Urban Ministries in the Underserved Urban Areas" from the Christian Community and Leadership home area;

To request a progress report on the work by the Spring 2024 Church Council meeting; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

Q. Mission Development Process

Churchwide Assembly Action [CA22.01.10]

To receive with gratitude the memorial on "Equity and Clarity in the Mission Development Process" from the Delaware-Maryland Synod;

To refer this memorial to the Congregational Vitality Training and Development team in the Christian Community and Leadership home area to establish a working group in partnership with the appropriate leaders in the Delaware-Maryland Synod to study and refine current ELCA guidelines and systems for appointments, calls, funds, and support mechanisms for mission developers and new ministries; and

To request that the working group consult with and provide regular reports to the Church Council beginning by Fall 2023 to ensure that the purposes and objectives of this memorial are being fulfilled.

Response from the Christian Community and Leadership home area (November 2022)

The ELCA Christian Community and Leadership home area Congregational Vitality Training and Development Team leaders have contacted Delaware-Maryland Synod staff to create a working group in partnership with Delaware-Maryland Synod leaders who composed this memorial. The Rev. Sandra Chrostowski, senior director, congregational vitality, and new ministry training and development, and the Rev. Ruben Duran, senior advisor for new ministry development, have been appointed as conveners of this working group which will identify partners across this church for consultation and collaboration with the goal of scheduling an online meeting during the first quarter of 2023.

This working group will study and refine current ELCA guidelines and systems in place for appointment, calls, funding, and support mechanisms for mission developers and new ministries. The working group will also provide regular reports, beginning at the Fall 2023 Church Council meeting, to ensure that the purposes and objectives of this memorial are being fulfilled.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.q.

To receive the progress report on "Equity and Clarity in the Mission Development Process" from the Christian Community and Leadership home area;

To request a progress report on the work by the Fall 2023 Church Council meeting; and To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

R. Greenhouse Gas Reduction

Churchwide Assembly Action [CA22.04.25]

To receive with gratitude the memorials from the Oregon Synod, Southwest California Synod, Northeastern Minnesota Synod, Minneapolis Area Synod, Saint Paul Area Synod, Southwestern Texas Synod, Northern Illinois Synod, Northeastern Iowa Synod, East-Central Synod of Wisconsin, Greater Milwaukee Synod, North/West Lower Michigan Synod, New England Synod, Northeastern Pennsylvania Synod, Northwestern Pennsylvania Synod, Central States Synod, and Delaware-Maryland Synod concerning greenhouse gas reduction;

To reaffirm the commitment of this church to engage in creation care and advocacy based on the principles of sufficiency, sustainability, participation, and solidarity;

To reaffirm the commitment of this church to advocacy and action in support of 50% reduction from 2005 levels in United States economy-wide net greenhouse gas pollution by 2030 and achieve net-zero emissions by 2050;

To direct the ELCA Churchwide organization to set the goal of reducing its net greenhouse gas pollution 50% by 2030, and achieve net-zero emissions by 2050;

To urge the churchwide organization to continue its network ministry through the Creation Care Network to inform and guide this church in its efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions;

To encourage congregants, rostered ministers, and bishops to commit themselves to education about the urgency of the climate emergency, the global opportunities of a just transition and to lift up loving our neighbor in response to the climate emergency through their preaching;

To affirm the Mission Investments Fund's "Green Building" initiative and resources, and to encourage continued commitment to supporting ministries in caring for creation and addressing climate change;

To refer to the Service and Justice home area, Office of the Treasurer, Office of the Secretary, and Office of the Presiding Bishop, for implementation consistent with the memorials; and

To request the churchwide organization provide a report to the 2025 Churchwide Assembly assessing the progress in reducing greenhouse gas emissions across all three expressions and sharing lessons learned to help meet reduction goals.

Executive Committee Action [EC22.09.23b2]

To refer the 2022 Churchwide Assembly action on "Greenhouse Gas Reduction" to the Service and Justice home area, in consultation with the Office of the Treasurer, Office of the Secretary and Office of the Presiding Bishop, for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synods of this action.

Response from the Service and Justice home area (November 2022)

Climate change is one of the most pressing issues facing all of God's creation. Leading scientists from around the world have confirmed that global average temperatures are growing warmer due to increasing levels of carbon dioxide and other heat-trapping gases in the Earth's atmosphere. Human use of fossil fuels that release carbon dioxide and other "greenhouse" gases (GHGs) into the air is the main source of the increase in these gases. As levels of carbon dioxide and other GHGs increase, more and more of the sun's heat is trapped by the atmosphere and less escapes back into space. The increase in trapped heat changes the climate, causing altered weather patterns, including multi-year droughts, extreme storms, flooding, and rising sea levels.

The memorials direct the ELCA churchwide organization (CWO) to establish targets to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions by at least 50% by 2030, and achieve net-zero emissions by 2050. This target is consistent with the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) 2018 report that states that, in order to prevent the worst climate damages, global net human-caused emissions of carbon dioxide (CO2) need to fall by about 45% from 2010 levels by 2030, reaching net zero around 2050. The ELCA has supported these targets in its advocacy and creation care education work.

Representatives of the Service and Justice home area, the Office of the Treasurer, the Office of the Secretary, and the Office of the Presiding Bishop met to discuss implementation of the memorial directive. This discussion noted that the CWO has already achieved reductions through reduced travel, more online collaboration, and hybrid work plans. The work to establish a 2005 baseline and to create emission and energy use reduction targets will require expertise beyond current churchwide staff capacity. Funding for a half-time position has been set aside in the Service and Justice home area, beginning in 2023. The CWO sees this initiative as a witness to ELCA commitments to care for creation, and an initiative that can model what synods and congregations can do. The CWO supports the reconstituting of the Creation Care Network that is currently underway.

A progress report will be made to the 2025 Churchwide Assembly.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.r.

To receive the response on "Greenhouse Gas Reduction" from the Service and Justice home area:

To urge the churchwide organization to continue its efforts to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions and commend it for its initiatives and commitments to creation care and environmental advocacy;

To request a progress report be provided by the Spring 2025 Church Council meeting with a report expected for the 2025 Churchwide Assembly; and

To request that the secretary inform the synods of this action.

S. Voting Rights and D.C. Statehood

Churchwide Assembly Action [CA22.01.05c]

To receive with gratitude the memorial on "Voting Rights and D.C. Statehood" from the Metropolitan Washington, D.C., Synod;

To request that the presiding bishop communicate this church's support for statehood for the District of Columbia to the United States Congress;

To direct the ELCA Witness in Society team in the Service and Justice home area to promote opportunities for education and advocacy regarding statehood for Washington, D.C.;

To direct the ELCA Witness in Society team to listen to and support calls for self-determination for American Indian and Alaska Native Tribal Nations, Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and other U.S. territories and to act on requests related to these matters from the Caribbean Synod and the ELCA director for Indigenous Ministries and Tribal Relations; and

To encourage all ELCA synods, congregations, and members to inform and educate themselves about ELCA social teaching and witness in society on voting access and voting rights.

Executive Committee Action [EC22.09.23b1]

To refer the 2022 Churchwide Assembly action on "Voting Rights and D.C. Statehood" to the Service and Justice home area for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Service and Justice home area (November 2022)

As a church body, the ELCA uses its voice to address important policy issues that affect the well-being of people and communities, including promotion of civic engagement and the right to vote. The ELCA has consistently expressed its support for full representation of all people in political processes and decision making as a matter of fairness and civil rights. The ELCA social statement *The Church in Society: A Lutheran Perspective* (1991) states, "Along with all citizens, Christians have the responsibility to defend human rights and to work for freedom, justice, peace, environmental well-being, and good order in public life. They are to recognize the vital role of law in protecting life and liberty and in upholding the common good. Christians need to be concerned for the methods and the content of public deliberation. They should be critical when groups of people are inadequately represented in political processes and decisions that affect their lives." (p. 5) The ELCA social statement *Freed in Christ: Race, Ethnicity and Culture* (1993) states, "This church will support legislation, ordinances, and resolutions that guarantee to all persons equally: civil rights, including full protection of the law and redress under the law of discriminatory practices; and to all citizens, the right to vote." (p. 7)

Through the Witness in Society team, the ELCA Service and Justice home area will respond to the memorial "Voting Rights and D.C. Statehood" with the following steps:

- 1. Fall 2022: Consult with the Metropolitan Washington, D.C., Synod on the issue of statehood for the District of Columbia and collaborate with the synod on an action plan.
- 2. Fall 2022: Consult with the ELCA director for Indigenous Ministries and Tribal Relations and with the Caribbean Synod regarding the resolve "to direct the ELCA Witness in Society team to listen to and support calls for self-determination for American Indian and Alaska Native Tribal Nations, Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and other U.S. territories and to act on requests related to these matters from the Caribbean Synod and the ELCA director for Indigenous Ministries and Tribal Relations."
- 3. 2023: Determine opportunities for education and advocacy on voting rights, representation and statehood in the District of Columbia, including opportunities for timely communication from the presiding bishop to the United States Congress.
- 4. 2023: Continue to promote and encourage civic engagement in the ELCA, including through the ELCAvotes initiative.
- 5. Fall 2023: Report on memorial response to the ELCA Church Council.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.s.

To receive the response on "Voting Rights and D.C. Statehood" from the Service and Justice home area;

To affirm the timeline proposed and to anticipate a report by the Fall 2023 Church Council meeting; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

T. Right to Boycott

Churchwide Assembly Action [CA22.01.05e]

To receive with gratitude the memorials from the Metropolitan Chicago Synod and the New England Synod in relation to Palestinian human rights; and

To urge Presiding Bishop Elizabeth A. Eaton and ELCA members to call on the president of the United States and the U.S. Congress to oppose legislation penalizing or criminalizing support for nonviolent boycotts, divestment, and/or sanctions on behalf of Palestinian human rights.

Executive Committee Action [EC22.09.23b5]

To refer the 2022 Churchwide Assembly action on "Right to Boycott" to the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Service and Justice home area for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synods of this action.

Response from the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Service and Justice home area (November 2022)

The Public Messages Working Group, an internal churchwide organization working group, reviewed the request for the presiding bishop and ELCA members to call on the U.S. President and Congress to oppose legislation penalizing or criminalizing support for nonviolent boycotts, divestment, and/or sanctions on behalf of Palestinian human rights.

Given the current election cycle, staff recommend the request be postponed until the new Congress is in session. The intention would be to link an ELCA letter with ecumenical efforts or with a calendar event like a United Nations day or discussion. In preparation, a template and initial draft will be undertaken so the letter may be quickly edited and released when the timing is appropriate. Church Council can expect a report on the outcomes by the April 2024 meeting.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.t.

To receive the timeline on "Right to Boycott" from the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Service and Justice home area;

To request a report be provided by the April 2024 Church Council meeting; and To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

U. Unaltered Augsburg Confession

Churchwide Assembly Action [CA19.02.09a]

To receive with gratitude the memorials from Allegheny and Southeastern synods concerning renewed awareness and use of the Unaltered Augsburg Confession; and

To refer the proposed actions to the Office of the Presiding Bishop, in consultation with 1517 Media, Mission Advancement unit and other units, for additional analysis and planning in the churchwide organization for a report and possible recommendations to the Church Council.

Executive Committee action [EC19.09.28.a11]

To request that the Office of the Presiding Bishop, in consultation with 1517 Media and other appropriate churchwide organization units, provide a report or a timeline on when the Unaltered Augsburg Confession will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synods of this action.

Church Council action [CC19.11.47u]

To receive the response on "Unaltered Augsburg Confession" from the Office of the Presiding Bishop;

To request that a report with possible recommendations be provided to the Church Council's Spring 2021 meeting; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synods of this action.

Response from the Office of the Presiding Bishop (April 2021)

Over the past 18 months, the focus of the work of the Office of the Presiding Bishop related to the 500th anniversary of the Reformation has been the 2020 initiatives on Luther's "The Freedom of a Christian." 1517 Media generously made a .pdf of the treatise freely available to accompany a study guide and compendium of case studies developed and published at elca500.org A number of public events drew upon these resources and themes. Consideration is currently being given to marking the 500th anniversary of the Diet of Worms this year.

Given these projects, an extension is requested for the work detailed in the November 2019 report. As this church journeys toward the anniversary of the Augsburg Confession in 2030, the Rev. Marcus Kunz (executive, discernment of contextual and theological issues) will serve as the facilitator for processes and consultations that will:

- clarify or define the purpose of any organized action by the churchwide organization in the years leading to the 500th anniversary of the Augsburg Confession;
- assess what resources already are or will be available and what activities will likely be planned and undertaken by other organizations (for example, resources already available or planned by the ELCA publishing house; activities that may be undertaken by theological faculties and/or ecumenical groups, the work of the Lutheran World Federation and the 13th assembly in 2023);
- consider which, if any, of the actions requested in the memorials are appropriate for the churchwide organization to undertake itself or to coordinate with or among others, and considering what other actions related to the Augsburg Confession may be beneficial;
- give full attention to the letter and spirit of the ELCA's representational principles in any and all related processes and consultations; and
- make a progress report with possible recommendations for next steps to the Fall 2022 Church Council meeting.

Church Council action [CC21.04.06u]

To receive the response on "Unaltered Augsburg Confession" from the Office of the Presiding Bishop;

To request that a progress report with possible recommendations be provided to the Fall 2022 Church Council meeting; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synods of this action.

Response from the Office of the Presiding Bishop (November 2022)

Two synod memorials presented to the 2019 Churchwide Assembly proposed actions throughout the ELCA and its interdependent institutions as well as among its members that would:

- raise awareness of the Unaltered Augsburg Confession more widely in the church;
- renew attention in seminary education; and
- develop resources for use in classrooms and congregations.

These actions would be encouraged and supported by the churchwide organization in anticipation of the 500th anniversary of the Augsburg Confession in 2030. The proposals specifically requested wider and easier availability of the English translations of both the German and Latin texts included in *The Book of Concord*, edited by Robert Kolb and Timothy Wengert. In follow-up conversation with the primary authors of the synod memorial from the Allegheny Synod, they said they understand this proposal to be comparable to Bishop Eaton's invitation to study the Small Catechism in 2016-2017 in connection with the 500th anniversary of the Reformation.

Although the memorials were referred to the churchwide staff for additional study and possible recommendations, some actions have already been initiated with others. For a full account of the actions and consultations, please refer to the Unaltered Augsburg Confession Report.

If the Church Council and/or Office of Presiding Bishop decide to proceed with the proposed actions of the memorial, some immediate next steps could include:

- a. Designating staff who will exercise responsibility for tasks and outcomes:
 - i. a point person and/or "realizer" who will have primary responsibility
 - ii. a working group of other staff with expertise, experience, and relationships needed for implementation
- b. Selecting an advisory group (beyond churchwide staff) to assist with assessment, networking, decision-making and planning
- c. Continuing consultations with individuals and at least 2-4 more small groups
- d. Making initial decisions regarding:
 - i. the purpose, goals, and scope of activities for this project
 - ii. the scope and posture of the churchwide staff's role (assuming that other groups and individuals will take their own initiatives), hopefully with attention to the insights expressed in this initial round of consultation (above)
- e. Clarifying what resources (budget, personnel, etc.) will be available for this project
- f. Taking inventory of existing material resources and making an initial assessment of their usability, accessibility, and limitations

- g. Taking inventory of individuals and groups in the ELCA, LWF and beyond who can collaborate productively. A networking session (workshop) at next summer's Rostered Ministers Gathering would be one opportunity.
- h. Beginning exploration and development of resources, including resource persons, other than traditional classroom-type materials and methods (assuming that the traditional materials and methods will also be available).

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.u.

To receive the response on "Unaltered Augsburg Confession" from the Office of the Presiding Bishop;

To support the actions identified in the memorials to raise awareness of the Unaltered Augsburg Confession more widely in the church, renew attention of the Augsburg Confession in seminary education, and develop resources for use in this church's congregations, synods, and institutions;

To affirm the steps proposed by the Office of the Presiding Bishop to fulfill the actions; and

To request that the secretary inform the synods of this action.

V. Salary Equity in the ELCA

Churchwide Assembly Action [CA22.01.11]

To receive with gratitude the memorial on "Salary Equity in the ELCA" from the Delaware-Maryland Synod;

To refer the memorial to the Church Council to consider commissioning a study of pay gaps for rostered ministers in the ELCA, particularly as they relate to women, people of color, minority ethnic groups, people with disabilities, and the LGBTQIA+ community, and to consider using such a study not only for the purposes described in this memorial but also for the study of inequitable compensation of clergy of color previously called for by the Church Council (CC19.06.23.), for the Quality of Call Initiative for Women in Ministry, for the study of educational debt, and for such other purposes as might serve the needs of this church;

To encourage Portico Benefit Services and the Churchwide organization to make appropriate changes to their bylaws and data privacy policies in order to facilitate a deeper understanding of compensation patterns for rostered ministers;

To replace the "Current gross compensation" question from the Rostered Minister Profile with "Minimum Compensation for Next Call:"

To amend the "Current Health Benefits" question to read "Needed Health Benefits;" and

To remove the "Current Retirement Contribution" question from the Rostered Minister Profile.

Executive Committee Action [EC22.09.23b4]

To refer the 2022 Churchwide Assembly action on "Salary Equity in the ELCA" to the Office of the Secretary, in consultation with the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Christian Community and Leadership home area, for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from Christian Community and Leadership and the Office of the Secretary (November 2022)

As the memorial from the Delaware-Maryland Synod pointed out, there is evidence that across society and in churches there exist pay gaps that affect equity for women, people of color, minority ethnic groups, people with disabilities, people who are marginalized or living in poverty, and the LGBTQIA+ community. One serious difficulty the ELCA faces in determining the extent to which inequity exists in compensation for rostered ministers, however, is that data on compensation has been extremely difficult to come by. The churchwide organization holds no data on compensation for rostered ministers. While Portico Benefit Services has salary and retirement contribution data for those rostered ministers who are sponsored in its plans, there are challenges that have hindered sharing of data, including the fact that Portico is bound by federal privacy laws as a fiduciary agent, as well as the reality that it has been bound by its own bylaws and policies that protect the privacy of plan participants. There is the additional complication that, while a large majority of rostered ministers are sponsored through Portico, it is likely that a number of those who serve smaller congregations or those with fewer financial resources are not sponsored, and thus would not be included in any information that Portico might be able to share. Furthermore, Portico does not maintain ethnicity data on its members, and the data in

the churchwide database of rostered ministers is often incomplete concerning ethnicity. Neither Portico nor the churchwide organization maintain information on rostered ministers' identification as LGBTQIA+, gender is recorded primarily on the binary with the possibility of a rostered minister to report gender only as "other," and no information on disabilities is tracked by the churchwide organization for ministers on the active rosters.

Conversation has begun about the study called for by the 2022 Churchwide Assembly and how the churchwide organization can most efficiently and effectively gather information that will serve the needs of the various studies already underway or about to get underway (as listed in the assembly's action) that intersect with questions of compensation and equity. Adam DeHoek, ELCA congregation statistics analyst, will serve as a liaison to help ensure that there are efficiencies in data collection and reporting and that the various groups are sharing information across the studies. A timeline for the study will be reported at the Spring 2023 Church Council meeting.

Portico has asked for bylaw changes that the Church Council is being asked to approve at this meeting that would allow it to share compensation data for sponsored rostered ministers, which has been a challenge for such research in the past. The churchwide organization is working on data sharing policy revisions, and, working with Information Technology (IT), is completing a new quarterly report that will give Portico more of the information they need and that will allow for data matching to enable the churchwide organization to pull useful conclusions from compensation data provided by Portico.

The various changes to the Rostered Minister Profile (RMP) compensation questions that the assembly called for have been addressed and are currently in production for release in the very near future.

VOTED: ENBLOG

CC22.11.34.v.

To receive the progress report on "Salary Equity in the ELCA" from the Office of the Secretary;

To request a report on the consideration of a study identified in the memorial by the Spring 2023 Church Council meeting; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

W. Motion I: Nominations and Elections Process

Submitted by: The Rev. Kathy Gerking [Nebraska Synod, 4A]

RESOLVED, that the Church Council appoint a Task Force to explore and analyze nomination and election processes used by synods and the churchwide organization, including but not limited to the ecclesiastical ballot, in order to determine best practices and to make practical recommendations concerning options for the selection of all synod and churchwide officers; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Task Force report to the Conference of Bishops and Church Council in sufficient time that potential governing document amendments and/or a report on best practices can be prepared in time for the 2025 Churchwide Assembly.

Churchwide Assembly action [CA22.04.27]

To adopt Motion I as submitted.

Executive Committee action [EC22.09.23b11]

To refer the 2022 Churchwide Assembly action on "Motion I: Nominations and Elections Process" to the Office of the Secretary for a report or a timeline on when this will receive further attention.

Response from the Office of the Secretary (November 2022)

The Office of the Secretary plans to provide a report to the Church Council in November 2023, with a final report and recommendations to be brought to the Church Council at its November 2024 meeting.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.w.

To receive the timeline on "Motion I: Nominations and Elections Process" from the Office of the Secretary on when the resolution will receive further attention; and

To request a progress report by the Fall 2023 Church Council meeting, with a final report and recommendations by the Fall 2024 Church Council meeting.

RESPONSES TO PREVIOUS CHURCH COUNCIL ACTIONS

X. Racial Justice Ombudsperson Position

Church Council action [CC22.06.20]

To receive the request to explore creation of the position of a Racial Justice Ombudsperson with a report from the Office of the Presiding Bishop delivered to the Church Council at its Fall 2022 meeting;

To acknowledge the previous action of the council to create "a task force charged with reviewing the current process for discipline and its impact on persons of color and other historically marginalized groups, considering recommendations for staffing, community healing and restoration, and learning best practices from full communion partners" (CC22.04.04); and

To review the role and membership of the ELCA Response Team.

Response from the Office of the Presiding Bishop (November 2022)

The Task Force Addressing Disciplinary Concerns of Leaders of Color held its first Microsoft Teams meeting on Oct. 4, 2022. Judith Roberts, senior director for Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion, facilitated the conversation with task force members. The agenda opened with a devotion, prayer, an introduction of task force members, and a review of the 2019 Strategy Towards Authentic Diversity recommendation for the creation of an ombudsperson position within the churchwide organization. The conversation was followed by examples of the impact for leaders of color and communities they served when disciplinary actions occur. The task force received a brief presentation on the current churchwide DEI (diversity, equity, inclusion) portfolios, and where an ombudsperson position might be housed within the current organization. The meeting concluded with a conversation regarding expectations of work, timeline for completion, and engagement with additional churchwide staff. The task force is scheduled to meet again virtually on Dec. 1, 2022.

VOTED: ENBLOG

CC22.11.34.x.

To receive the report from the Office of the Presiding Bishop concerning the exploration of a Racial Justice Ombudsperson position; and

To encourage the continued conversation within the Task Force Addressing Disciplinary Concerns of Leaders of Color.

Y. Declaration of the ELCA to the People of African Descent

At the 2016 Churchwide Assembly, the assembly received the African Descent Lutherans memorial from 10 synods calling for a number of actions related to the ELCA's observance of the 500th anniversary of the Reformation and the commemoration of the United Nation's International Decade of People of African Descent. In response, the assembly requested in part that the Domestic Mission unit staff create a "Declaration to the African Descent Community." [CA16.05.17]

At its special meeting in June 2019, the Church Council adopted "A Declaration to the People of African Descent" and directed additional action steps to be taken. [CC19.06.23]

Church Council action [CC19.06.23]

...To direct Planning, Research and Evaluation to measure and report progress on the discriminatory treatment within the call process and to urge Portico to assist with providing information to the churchwide organization to measure and report progress on inequitable compensation of clergy of color by the November 2021 meeting of the Church Council...

Response from Christian Community and Leadership (Nov. 2021)

Due to the transition of related research staff, the progress report will be delayed, and the Christian Community and Leadership (CCL) home area will not be ready to report by the Nov. 2021 meeting. However, this work is expected to be included as part of the Quality of Call project, which is considering barriers faced by women, people of color, and LGBTQIA+ pastors in the ELCA.

Additionally, Portico Benefit Services has reported that it does not have ethnic background in its systems and therefore would not have any data to segment rostered ministers of color. The terms of Portico's privacy policy by which Portico gathers compensation information from membership precludes using that data for purposes other than providing benefits.

An update on this work is anticipated for the Spring 2022 meeting with a full report in Fall 2022.

Response from Christian Community and Leadership (Spring 2022)

The Christian Community and Leadership Home Area is gathering data from three synods about rostered ministers of color and the size of the congregations they serve. A study done by The Episcopal Church USA suggests a strong correlation between the size of the ministry and compensation for a rostered minister (additional narrative to study). The study also would suggest one way to address the issue raised would be to include rostered ministers of color in interviewing for large member congregations. This will be reported in Fall 2022.

A report indicating wait times for candidates of color seeking first calls accompanies this response to the Church Council.

A plan to address this inequity needs to be developed by the Conference of Bishops who oversee first call placements.

Conversations between Portico Benefit Services and the ELCA churchwide organization continue regarding the sharing of data and the needs to protect privacy as well as to help the church understand the trends related to compensation.

The data and additional information being collected will be shared with the Quality of Call Initiative that will begin the work of improving the quality of call for rostered ministers of color that will most include wait time and compensation.

The Christian Community and Leadership home area will provide an update and progress report for the Fall 2022 Church Council meeting with a final report coming to the Spring 2023 Church Council meeting.

Church Council action [CC22.04.17n]

To receive the progress report from the Christian Community and Leadership unit regarding the research work related to discriminatory treatment within the call process and the inequitable compensation of rostered ministers of color; and

To request a progress report be presented at the Fall 2022 Church Council meeting and a final report be presented at the Spring 2023 Church Council meeting.

Response from Christian Community and Leadership (November 2022)

The Christian Community and Leadership (CCL) home area consulted with the Quality of Call Initiative, studying average worship attendance with leaders of color compared to their white companions in three synods. Unfortunately, with so few leaders of color, the data did not reveal useful information. The newly formed Candidacy and Leadership Development Working Group is identifying barriers that people of color have experienced and will pilot solutions based on what is learned. That information will be reported to Church Council in a separate and ongoing report. In addition, the 2022 Churchwide Assembly adopted a memorial titled "Salary Equity in the ELCA" [CA22.02.11] that is addressing similar inequitable compensation issues.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.y.

To receive the report from the Christian Community and Leadership home area regarding the research work related to discriminatory treatment within the call process and the inequitable compensation of rostered ministers of color;

To acknowledge and commend the research work that is underway to address inequities in the call process and compensation patterns; and

To direct further reports on the related topics be provided to the Christian Community and Leadership Committee through the work occurring on the "Salary Equity in the ELCA" memorial and from the Candidacy and Leadership Development Working Group.

RESPONSES TO SYNOD ACTIONS

Z. Addressing Anti-Semitism in Lectionary Readings

Northern Illinois Synod (5B) [2021]

WHEREAS, anti-Semitic words, deeds, and attitudes do real harm to our Jewish neighbors; and

WHEREAS, the ELCA has repudiated anti-Semitism and expressed its desire to live in "love and respect for the Jewish people" ("Declaration to the Jewish Community," 1994); and

WHEREAS, passages of the New Testament which can be interpreted as anti-Jewish or supercessionist (i.e. supporting the idea that God has rejected the Jews) are included in our lectionary; and

WHEREAS, in the time in which the New Testament was written, the word Ἰουδαῖοι (ee-oo-DIE-oy), was used as a marker of geographic and ethnic identity (that is, it denoted people from Judaea as distinct from Galilee, Samaria, or other parts of the world)

and "Israelite" was used to identify the people who worshiped the God of Israel wherever they lived, that is the people whom we today would identify as "Jewish;" and

WHEREAS, the word "Jews" in the New Testament is usually an inaccurate translation of the Greek Ἰουδαῖοι, and

WHEREAS, the preferred translation used by Augsburg Fortress is the NRSV, which uses the inaccurate and potentially harmful translation "Jews" in almost every instance; therefore, be it

RESOLVED, that the preachers and teachers of the Northern Illinois Synod be encouraged to address the issues of anti-Semitism and anti-Jewish theology (such as the teaching that the Jewish people are responsible for the death of Jesus and/or the idea that God has rejected the Jews); and, be it further

RESOLVED, that preachers, teachers, and lectors of the Northern Illinois Synod be encouraged, when reading in public, to substitute a more appropriate translation of i000 α 001 where the English translation uses the word "Jews." Examples include "Judaeans," "Religious Leaders," and "locals;" and, be it further

RESOLVED, that the Northern Illinois Synod Assembly direct the Synod Council to forward this resolution to the Church Council's Executive Committee for referral and disposition to the appropriate unit or office of the churchwide organization in accordance with the bylaws and continuing resolutions of this church in order to address the issues of anti-Jewish language in this church's lectionary and teaching materials.

Executive Committee Action [EC22.06.19c5]

To refer the "Addressing Anti-Semitism in Lectionary Readings" resolution from the Northern Illinois Synod to the Worship Team in the Christian Community and Leadership home area, in consultation with the Office of the Presiding Bishop, for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Christian Community and Leadership home area (November 2022)

The concern about Anti-Jewish interpretations of biblical texts is not new and remains an important challenge for this church to address. Two issues are often at play. One is interpretation of translations of biblical texts (as this resolution identifies) and the other is how the readings are grouped together for public worship, for example in the Revised Common Lectionary.

Several resources are already available to help guide worship planners and preachers in navigating these important concerns. Preaching and Teaching "With Love and Respect for the Jewish People" is recently available from the ELCA Consultative Panel on Lutheran-Jewish Relations. This resource explores challenging topics, lectionary selections, and Bible passages to inform Christian preaching and teaching so that they respect the integrity of the Jewish tradition and avoid anti-Jewish interpretations of New Testament texts. Another key resource developed by the panel is "Talking Points: Topics in Christian-Jewish Relations," especially #5 on "Difficult Texts."

An essay titled, "The Jews" in John's Passion, was published in the 2020 edition of the Sundays and Seasons worship planning resource from Augsburg Fortress. This essay includes an emended translation of the passion according to John for use on Good Friday. This essay and emended text are now available both on SundaysAndSeasons.com and on ELCA.org.

Similar emendation principles were used in *Readings for the Assembly*, a three-year lectionary resource published in 1995–1997. An emended edition of Readings for the Assembly is being made available on SundaysAndSeasons.com for provisional use beginning this Advent. The Principles for Emendation note alignment with guidance on "Language and the Christian Assembly" in the 2002 ELCA document *Principles for Worship*, the updated edition of the NRSV (NRSVue) published in 2021, and follow the encouragement of *Faith*, *Sexism*, *and Justice: A Call to Action* (2019).

Ecumenical and full communion partners are having similar conversations regarding anti-Jewish interpretations of biblical readings. The Episcopal Church, at its general convention in July 2022, adopted a resolution that calls for a task force "to address both the anti-Semitic, anti-Jewish or supercessionist impact of lectionary readings, especially for Holy Week, and to develop proposals to mitigate that impact." The ELCA is a member of the Consultation on Common Texts (CCT), which is an ecumenical consultation of liturgical scholars and denominational representatives from the United States and Canada. The CCT was instrumental in the development of the Revised Common Lectionary. Ongoing conversation with these groups, and others, will be important as the ELCA considers future recommendations. The ELCA Consultative Panel on Lutheran-Jewish Relations is prepared to support ELCA Worship team's participation in these efforts.

The ELCA Worship team will continue conversation with key stakeholders, such as the Worship Resource Development Working Group (the combined worship teams of the churchwide organization and 1517

Media/Augsburg Fortress), the Consultation on Common Texts; ecumenical partners such as The Episcopal Church, the Conference of Bishops; and, in consultation with the executive for Ecumenical and Inter-Religious Relations and Theological Discernment and the ELCA Consultative Panel on Lutheran-Jewish Relations. In addition, the ELCA Worship team and the Worship Development staff at 1517 Media/Augsburg Fortress will ensure these topics are addressed when considering future resources such as preaching helps and worship formation.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.z.

To receive the progress report on "Addressing Anti-Semitism in Lectionary Readings" from the Christian Community and Leadership home area;

To request an update be provided by the Spring 2024 Church Council meeting; and To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

AA. LGBTQ+ Programming for Events

Metropolitan Washington, D.C., Synod (8G) [2022]

WHEREAS, the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America (ELCA) adopted the social statement *Human Sexuality: A Gift and Trust* in 2009, providing guidance on how to live with our LGBTQ+ neighbors; and,

WHEREAS, the ELCA adopted in 1995 a social policy resolution that "gay and lesbian people, as individuals created by God, are welcome to participate fully in the life of the congregations" of the ELCA; and,

WHEREAS, the gatherings of the church (including, but not limited to, the National Youth Gathering) often include pregathering events or in-gathering sessions focused on specific communities; therefore, be it

RESOLVED, that the Metropolitan Washington, D.C., Synod in assembly direct the Metropolitan Washington, D.C., Synod Council to request the ELCA Church Council direct the appropriate churchwide offices to dfdevelop LGBTQ-focused and LGBTQ-specific programming for use as pre-gathering events and in-gathering sessions whenever the gatherings of the church include such sessions for other communities.

Executive Committee Action [EC22.06.19c6]

To refer the "LGBTQ+ Programming for Events" resolution from the Metropolitan Washington, D.C., Synod in the Christian Community and Leadership home area for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Christian Community and Leadership home area (November 2022)

Tammy Jones-West, interim program director for the ELCA Youth Gathering, has been apprised of this request for a pre-gathering of LGBTQIA2S youth. A response can be expected in first quarter 2023 for the 2024 ELCA Youth Gathering.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.aa.

To receive the timeline on "LGBTQ+ Programming for Events" from the Christian Community and Leadership home area;

To request a response by the Spring 2023 Church Council meeting on LGBTQ-specific programming for pre-gathering events and in-gathering sessions for other communities; and To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

BB. ELCA Support for the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act

Southeastern Iowa Synod (5D) [2022] (The Office of the Secretary reclassified this memorial as a resolution.)

WHEREAS, God created heaven and earth and everything therein and proclaimed it good (Gen 1:1ff); and God has entrusted humankind with the care of the earth (Gen 2:15); and

WHEREAS, the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America (ELCA) has adopted social statements, *Caring for Creation* (1993) and *Sufficient, Sustainable Livelihood for All* (1999) that call for economic and environmental justice, to protect the health and integrity of creation both for its own sake and for the use and enjoyment of present and future generations, and for economic justice, to consider how people's actions affect the ability of all people to provide for their material needs and the needs of their families and communities; and

WHEREAS, in 1993 with the *Caring for Creation* social statement, ELCA Lutherans realized the urgency was already "widespread and serious, according to the preponderance of evidence from scientists worldwide [of] dangerous global warming, caused by the buildup of greenhouse gases, especially carbon dioxide" from the burning of fossil fuels, and that "action to counter degradation, especially within this decade, is essential to the future of our children and our children. Time is very short;" and

WHEREAS, carbon pricing is one policy tool to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from fossil fuel combustion, which complements other tools like regulations on polluting industries and tax incentives encouraging investment in energy efficiency and renewable forms of energy production; and

Whereas, in January 2019, over 3,500 of the United States' leading economists across the political spectrum, including 28 Nobel Laureates and 4 former chairs of the Federal Reserve, issued a joint "Economists' Statement on Carbon Dividends" that argued "A carbon tax offers the most cost-effective lever to reduce carbon emissions at the scale and speed that is necessary," but also recommended "the revenue should be returned directly to U.S. citizens through equal lump-sum rebates," and concluded "The majority of American families, including the most vulnerable, will benefit financially by receiving more in 'carbon dividends' than they pay in increased energy prices;" and

WHEREAS, in 2019 the Churchwide Assembly received with gratitude a memorial from the South-Central Synod of Wisconsin regarding a Carbon Fee and Dividend, and the Church Council directed the Domestic Mission unit to develop "a plan that promotes educational resources on Carbon Fee and Dividend to assist in forming the basis for any potential advocacy strategy;" and

WHEREAS, in October 2019 ELCA Advocacy published a primer on "Carbon Pricing Basics" that provides an overview to the topic and identifies several principles rooted in ELCA social statements that "can move us toward the pressing goal of reduced GHG emissions and just application of that [carbon] pricing or policy"; and

WHEREAS, bipartisan members of congress conceived the "Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act which has been successfully introduced in the last three sessions of Congress and which is broadly consistent with the following principles outlined in ELCA Advocacy's "Carbon Pricing Basics" primer:

- Any carbon tax must be structured to respect the jeopardy of vulnerable populations and those living in poverty.
- Any carbon pricing mechanism must not be fiscally regressive but rather must respect vulnerable populations and those living in poverty.
- Emissions targets should be consistent with credible science and with the IPCC special report's directive that global warming be kept at 1.5 degrees Celsius or less.
- An adjustment mechanism should be included in case the emissions targets are not being met.
- Federal agencies should not be prohibited from proposing new regulations on GHGs if such regulations are needed.
- An effective carbon tax must be applied to as many sectors as possible. Because of the global nature of the problem, border issues and trade policies must also be considered in designing the tax, so that problems aren't remedied through workarounds.
- The process for identifying problems and implementing solutions in a carbon tax should be participatory and transparent for all stakeholders.
- The pricing mechanism itself should be transparent and accountable to government authority to ensure that goals are being met.
- Transparency and accountability should be built into the pricing mechanism.
- The mechanism for awarding rebates to individuals/households should reach the most vulnerable, regardless of income or citizenship.
- Existing environmental and climate change protections should not be rolled back. and,

WHEREAS, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) recently noted in its sixth assessment report that: carbon taxes are the most powerful and efficient [mitigation strategy], because they allow firms and households to find the lowest-cost ways of reducing energy use and shifting toward cleaner alternatives . and

WHEREAS, the IPCC also emphasizes that "any further delay in concerted anticipatory global action on adaptation and mitigation will miss a brief and rapidly closing window of opportunity to secure a livable and sustainable future for all." and: "risks from mitigation costs could also be severe if no progressive redistribution from carbon pricing is applied...using tax revenues to issue payments back to taxpayers that are disproportionately impacted or to redistribute capital among regions may be one of the most important features of carbon tax policies." Combined, these ideas advocate for a carbon tax with revenue distribution to citizens in legislation such as the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividends Act. and,

WHEREAS, as Christians it is our responsibility to speak for future generations and to advocate for climate justice, and

WHEREAS, ELCA Advocacy does advocate for particular pieces of legislation after careful review and moral grounding in the ELCA's social statements; therefore, be it

RESOLVED, that the Southeastern Iowa Synod Assembly memorializes the 2022 Churchwide Assembly of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America to endorse the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividends Act or similar legislation and direct its lobbying personnel to advocate for such legislation.

Executive Committee action (EC22.06.19c4a)

To refer the "ELCA Advocacy Support for the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act" resolution from the Southeastern Iowa Synod to the ELCA Witness in Society Team in the Service and Justice home area for further response related to endorsement of the legislation; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Service and Justice home area (November 2022)

The urgent task of reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions into the atmosphere requires multiple approaches, which include carbon pricing, setting emissions performance standards or GHG mitigation technologies. Carbon pricing is generally believed by economists as being the best tool for having the greatest impact in the near-term to spur GHG emission reduction mitigation efforts. Carbon pricing can take many forms, with the most familiar being an emissions trading system (ETS) or a carbon fee or tax.

The Witness in Society Team has developed a primer for ELCA members entitled "Carbon Pricing 101" with principles that provide a basis for ELCA evaluation of related legislation. The team has included carbon pricing as a topic in webinars, blog posts, and in creation of educational resources.

The resolution requests ELCA endorsement of a bill. Congressional offices may invite organizational endorsement of a bill to demonstrate support from civil society, with endorsers often listed at the introduction or during promotion of a bill. The ELCA rarely endorses legislation due to the probability that the provisions of a bill may change significantly over time and that there may be multiple bills on the same concern at once. Rather than committing to a specific bill, the ELCA frames advocacy priorities by the principles or provisions that it seeks in legislation. When the ELCA does promote a bill, it prioritizes bills with bipartisan sponsorship. When the ELCA does support a specific bill, an action alert may be sent to invite the ELCA's advocacy network to contact Congress when a concerted push could help move a bill out of committee or to a vote.

The Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act was introduced in the House of Representatives on April 1, 2021. It has 95 Democratic cosponsors and no Republican cosponsors. The bill has been referred to committee but has not received a hearing, indicating a lack of Congressional will to move the legislation forward. The ELCA's climate advocacy has focused instead on other climate-related legislation with greater promise to move forward. These efforts included the successful passage of the Infrastructure Act and the Inflation Reduction Act. These landmark pieces of legislation will have a transformational impact on U.S. carbon emissions and the effort to achieve net zero emissions by 2050. ELCA Witness in Society will continue to monitor legislative opportunities on carbon pricing in the next Congress.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.bb.

To receive the response on "ELCA Advocacy Support for the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act" from the Service and Justice home area;

To affirm the Witness in Society Team's decision to not endorse the Energy Innovation and Carbon Dividend Act or similar legislation;

To direct the Witness in Society Team to continue its climate advocacy efforts on legislative opportunities that will have a transformational impact on U.S. carbon emissions and achieve net zero emissions by 2050; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

CC. ELCA Name Change

Southwest California Synod (2B) [2022] (The Southwest California Synod Assembly ran out of time to act on the "ELCA Name Change" as a memorial. Therefore, the Southwest California Synod Council has forwarded it as a synod council resolution to the Church Council for its action.)

WHEREAS, the word "evangelical" appears in the name of our denomination (Evangelical Lutheran Church in America: ELCA) and our primary worship book (Evangelical Lutheran Worship: ELW); and

WHEREAS, the constituting members of the ELCA and the Commission for a New Lutheran Church which led into the ELCA's formation held to the historic view and value of the word "evangelical" as meaning "pertaining to the Gospel;" and

WHEREAS, the word "evangelical" was hoped to be maintained in its historic usage and sense at the time of the ELCA's formation; and

WHEREAS, the word "evangelical" has become culturally synonymous in the U.S. with a religious expression and belief that is not compatible with the ELCA; and

WHEREAS, the word "evangelical" in the U.S. now culturally refers to fundamentalist Christianity including many forms of exclusion which we find to be contrary to the "evangel" (gospel) including the ordination of women and LGBTQ persons; and

WHEREAS, the word "evangelical" is now representative of a narrow swath of conservative Christian denominations and sects rather than a broad notion of being Gospel-centric and inclusive of all persons; therefore, be it

RESOLVED that the word "evangelical" be discontinued in use and stricken from the name of our denomination and future books of worship; and be it further

RESOLVED that ELCA Church Council determine the nature of the transition in the use of the word

"evangelical" in our denominational title leading up to the 2022 ELCA Churchwide Assembly; and be it further

RESOLVED that the Southwest California memorialize the ELCA 2022 ELCA Churchwide Assembly to discontinue the use the use of the word "evangelical" in our denomination name and to adopt a new name for the denomination which more faithfully reflects its identity in the U.S.

Executive Committee action [EC22.06.19c8]

To refer the "ELCA Name Change" resolution from the Southwest California Synod to the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Office of the Secretary for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention, particularly in light of certain memorials that are coming before the 2022 Churchwide Assembly; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Office of the Secretary (November 2022)

On April 6, 2018, *Living Lutheran* published an article written by the Rev. Robert C. Blezard titled, "The 'e' word: Why does the ELCA have the word "evangelical" in its name?" where he addressed the historical significance of using the word "evangelical" in this church's denominational name and the challenges of using a word where society and culture has shifted the word's original meaning.

In light of the pending work to be accomplished with the Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church, the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Office of the Secretary recommends the reconsideration of a denominational name change be given to the commission.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.cc.

To receive the response on "ELCA Name Change" from the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Office of the Secretary;

To request the Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church consider the question of whether the denomination name, "Evangelical Lutheran Church in America," should be changed;

To anticipate a recommendation when the commission presents its findings for the 2025 Churchwide Assembly; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

DD. Adoption of Gender Inclusive Language

Southwest California Synod (2B) [2022] (The Southwest California Synod Assembly ran out of time to act on the "Adoption of Gender Inclusive Language" as a memorial. Therefore, the Southwest California Synod Council has forwarded it as a synod council resolution to the Church Council for its action.)

WHEREAS, the Churchwide Assembly voted to accept the response to memorials about Gender Identity (Churchwide 2019 Assembly Action CA19.02.09 per Category 4: Gender Identity); and

WHEREAS, that we thank the Churchwide Assembly for accepting the Memorial from the Sierra Pacific Synod in 2019 and requesting "that the Church Council consider authorizing development of a social message on gender identity and gender expression" (pg. 48); and

WHEREAS, the Memorials and Resolutions Report of 2019 (adopted above) requested "the Office of the Presiding Bishop provide materials to facilitate education among ELCA members so as to build awareness of the broad varieties of gender identity, gender expression, and sexual orientation among God's people, as well as to provide pastoral care insights regarding concerns and issues of the transgender experience and gender nonconformity;" and

WHEREAS, in the ELCA Social Statement "Faith, Sexism, and Justice" (adopted in 2019) the ELCA commits to use inclusive language (all genders) for humankind and inclusive and expansive language (other than human) for God. (pg 8, paragraph 27); and WHEREAS, some demographic requirements and data collection remains rooted in binary gender norms; and

WHEREAS, nonbinary and gender expansive lay leaders of our church deserve the use of inclusive language to determine where they are eligible to serve in synod roles; therefore, be it

RESOLVED, that the Southwest California Synod in Assembly memorialize the Churchwide Assembly to adopt gender-inclusive language across all governance documents, forms and reports by the end of 2022; specifically including options for "gender nonbinary" and "other" for all demographic data gathering regarding gender; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Southwest California Synod in Assembly memorialize The ELCA Church Council to adopt a social message on gender identity and gender expression to be applied throughout ELCA official forms, documents, and resources by 2025.

Executive Committee action [EC22.06.19c9]

To refer the "Adoption of Gender Inclusive Language" resolution from the Southwest California Synod to the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Office of the Secretary for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention, particularly in light of related actions already taken; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Office of the Secretary (November 2022)

Many of the amendments to the governing documents that were adopted by the 2022 Churchwide Assembly eliminated gendered references to people and provided for use of more inclusive language. The amendments were based on an extensive review of the constitutions of this church by Office of the Secretary staff.

At its Spring 2022 meeting, the Church Council directed "the churchwide organization to adhere to the "ELCA Style Guide" to ensure the appropriate usage of gender inclusive language in ELCA communications and documents." [CC22.04.17p] In addition, the churchwide organization is updating its forms and reports to provide options for "gender nonbinary" and "other" in demographic data gathering regarding gender. The churchwide organization staff hopes to complete another review of its forms and reports by the end of 2023.

In November 2021, the Church Council considered a social message on gender identity and acted "to release the request to develop a social message on gender identity and gender expression in light of the various actions already underway to address the topic, with the understanding that the ELCA will continue its ongoing efforts to address the concerns expressed in the "Gender Identity" memorial [CA19.02.091]." [CC21.11.25m4]

Some of those efforts underway include educational resources developed through the Gender Justice and Women's Empowerment ministry, including a study guide session that explores *Faith, Sexism, and Justice: A Call to Action's* rejection of harmful sex and gender stereotypes and the statement's affirmation that all persons are equal members of the body of Christ. There is also education on two-spirit through the ELCA's ethnic-specific ministries and the launch of "The Naming Project" where one of the directors is a deacon in the ELCA. The program helps to "meet the needs of youth who are dealing with coming out, sexuality, gender identity, and faith." Educational resources continue to be lifted up through https://www.elca.org/lgbtqia.

VOTED: EN BLOC

CC22.11.34.dd.

To receive the response on "Adoption of Gender Inclusive Language" from the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Office of the Secretary;

To support the previous actions by the 2022 Churchwide Assembly and the Church Council related to gender inclusive language as outlined in the response;

To commend the ongoing efforts in the Office of the Presiding Bishop to develop educational resources that build awareness of the broad varieties of gender identity, gender expression, and sexual orientation;

To urge the churchwide organization to conduct another review and update of its forms and reports for gender-inclusive language by the end of 2023; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

EE. Guidance on Retired/Retiring Ministers from the Roster of the ELCA

Southwestern Pennsylvania Synod (8B) [2021]

Bishop Kurt Kusserow submitted a letter to the Church Council on behalf of the Southwestern Pennsylvania Synod Council seeking guidance with retired or retiring ministers from the roster of the church whose status is in question or uncertain. Specifically, the synod council is asking about the required triennial review of the ministers on this church's retired roster and to propose that the guidance be added to the *Manual of Policies and Procedures for the Management of the Rosters of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America* for the benefit of the whole church.

Church Council action [CC21.04.06s]

To receive the request from the Southwestern Pennsylvania Synod Council requesting guidance regarding the review of retired ministers on the roster of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America;

To refer the matter to the Office of the Secretary for further research and to request that a response be provided at the Fall 2021 Church Council meeting; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from Office of the Secretary (November 2021)

Following the referral to the Office of the Secretary of the resolution from the Southwestern Pennsylvania Synod Council, Secretary Sue Rothmeyer conferred with Bishop Kurt Kusserow, whose letter had prompted the request. Bishop Kusserow has offered to serve on an *ad hoc* task force to consider guidelines for synods to use in conducting the status review of retired rostered ministers called for in the roster manual. He requested that a member of the Roster Committee of the Conference of Bishops also serve on the task force, and Bishop Shelley Wickstrom of the Alaska Synod has agreed. The task force will submit a proposal to the Roster Committee and the Conference of Bishops for possible guidelines to be inserted in the roster manual. A final draft would then be submitted to the Church Council to approve for inclusion in the roster manual.

Church Council action [CC21.11.25v]

To receive the response on "Guidance on Retired or Retiring Ministers for the Roster of the ELCA" from the Office of the Secretary;

To anticipate a progress report at the Spring 2022 Church Council meeting with possible updates to the roster manual; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Office of the Secretary (Spring 2022)

In response to the resolution from the Southwestern Pennsylvania Synod Council requesting guidance in performing the triennial review required by the roster manual of all rostered ministers who are retiring or who have been granted retired status, the Office of the Secretary has been in communication with Bishop Kurt Kusserow, bishop of the Southwestern Pennsylvania Synod. Bishop Kusserow has offered to be part of a working group that will develop such guidelines. In addition, Bishop Shelley Wickstrom of the Alaska Synod, a member of the Roster Committee of the Conference of Bishops, has agreed to participate in the group, along with Deacon Connie Schmucker, assistant to the bishop of the Florida-Bahamas Synod. The Rev. Keith Fry, executive for Office of the Secretary administration, will provide staff support for the working group. An initial meeting is being set for early April with a tentative goal of having guidelines to present for consideration by the Roster Committee and the Conference of Bishops at the conference's fall 2022 meeting, in hopes of having a possible revision of the roster manual for approval at the Church Council's November 2022 meeting.

Church Council action [CC22.04.17q]

To receive the progress report on "Guidance on Retired or Retiring Ministers for the Roster of the ELCA" from the Office of the Secretary;

To anticipate a report and a possible revision of the "Manual of Policies and Procedures for Management of the Rosters of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America"; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Office of the Secretary (November 2022)

Following the last report from the Office of the Secretary in April 2022, a working group was convened to draft revised text outlining a process for the synods' review of retired and retiring rostered ministers. The draft was presented to the Roster Committee of the Conference of Bishops at the committee's September 2022 meeting and was subsequently described to the Conference of Bishops in a plenary session of the Fall 2022 Conference of Bishops meeting. After discussion, because the process being proposed overlaps with similar questions concerning granting and review of On Leave from Call (OLFC) for rostered ministers, the Roster Committee recommended that this proposed revision be postponed until after other decisions are made.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.ee.

To receive the report on "Guidance on Retired or Retiring Ministers for the Roster of the ELCA" from the Office of the Secretary;

To support the recommendation of the Roster Committee of the Conference of Bishops to postpone the revision until other related decisions are made; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

FF. Concurrent Calling of Pastors by More than One Congregation

Upstate New York Synod (7D) [2022]

WHEREAS, ELCA Constitution 7.44A19 "Sources of Calls for Ministers of Word and Sacrament" b. "Table of Sources of Calls for Ministers of Word and Sacrament" 1.2 reads:

Setting Calling Body

1.2 Multiple-congregation parish Congregation meetings, acting on a common proposal

1.21 Pastor One of the participating congregations 1.22 Other pastoral arrangements One of the participating congregations

WHEREAS, pastors more and more are being asked to serve more than one congregation; and

WHEREAS, each congregation, as a place where the Promises of Jesus are proclaimed to gathered people, has the authority to call a person to be their proclaimer of those promises of Jesus; therefore, be it

RESOLVED that the ELCA Church Council work up a resolution to be presented at the next ELCA Churchwide Assembly that allows more than one congregation concurrently to call the same person as pastor, and to make all necessary changes to its constitution.

Executive Committee action [EC22.06.19c3]

To refer the "Concurrent Calling of Pastors by More than One Congregation" resolution from the Upstate New York Synod to the Office of the Secretary, in consultation with the appropriate churchwide organization office or home area, for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Office of the Secretary (November 2022)

This question will need to be discerned with the Conference of Bishops, in consultation with the Leadership Committee and the Roster Committee of that body. Any change would require amendments to the governing documents and revision of the roster manual.

After discussion with the Christian Community and Leadership home area, the Office of the Secretary plans to bring a report and proposed timeline to the Church Council at its November 2023 meeting, with a final report and recommendations to be brought to the Church Council at its November 2024 meeting.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.ff.

To receive the timeline on "Concurrent Calling of Pastors by More than One Congregation" from the Office of the Secretary on when the resolution will receive further attention;

To request a progress report by the Fall 2023 Church Council meeting, with a final report and recommendations by the Fall 2024 Church Council meeting; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

GG. Extending Pastoral Counseling through Private Practice

Northwest Intermountain Synod (1D) [2021]

WHEREAS, "Pastoral counseling, rooted in the Word and Sacrament ministry of the church, is an intrinsic part of the health and healing ministry of the church, seeking to foster spiritual wholeness and mental health as a style of ministry integrated into the total mission of the church," as stated in the ELCA Ministries in Chaplaincy, Pastoral Counseling, and Clinical Education, (MCPCCE) Endorsement Standards and Procedures, Call Criteria, Program Guidelines, Revised and Adopted, Congregational & Synodical Mission, May 2012, hereafter referenced as "MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual," (p.15); and

WHEREAS, Jesus himself encourages care of the stranger saying, "I was hungry and you gave me food, I was thirsty and you gave me something to drink, I was a stranger and you welcomed me, I was naked and you gave me clothing," Matthew 25:35–36; and

WHEREAS, the COVID-19 pandemic is increasing anxiety, grief, and mental health needs worldwide, increasing opportunity for pastoral counseling ministry extending care from our church in the world; and

WHEREAS, pastoral counseling in the ELCA is part of specialized ministries which are, "missional by nature and are a part of the church's outreach ministry to the ill, the imprisoned, the elderly, the troubled, the conflicted, and the afflicted," (MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual, Introduction, B. Chaplaincy, Pastoral Counseling, and Clinical Education, B.1. Rooted in the Gospel, p.3); and

WHEREAS, pastoral counseling in private practice rather than an agency setting is not explicitly prohibited or acknowledged in the ELCA MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual and has historically been extended as a valid ELCA ministry; and

WHEREAS, geographic locations may not have any Lutheran affiliated or recognized social ministry counseling organizations, but state licensure may support private practice opportunities; and

WHEREAS, the ELCA MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual defines expectations of pastoral counselors to include active membership in an ELCA congregation, and, "They are also responsible for making themselves and their expertise available to synods, congregations, and rostered workers in the church. Such availability may include regular participating in meetings and committees of rostered leaders, being available as speakers and consultants, and being active interpreters of specialized pastoral care as an extended ministry of the church in the world," (ELCA MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual, p.18–19); therefore be it

RESOLVED, that the ELCA MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual be amended to include a second bullet following under p.18, III. Criteria and Procedures for Call, A. Criteria, 6. Criteria F. Ministry Accountability, a. Institutional/Agency Accountability, saying:

Pastoral counselors working in a private practice setting will create an Advisory Board to meet at least annually to provide oversight, performance review, and acknowledgement of continued maintenance of ELCA requirements for rostered ministers in public ministry. Private practice pastoral counselors are required to hold general liability business insurance in addition to professional liability insurance. They must include a statement in informed consent documentation for clients seeking pastoral counseling removing liability for the ELCA or local ELCA congregations. Private practice pastoral counselors must clearly identify themselves as "Christian" therapists in public advertising and marketing. And be it further

RESOLVED, that the ELCA legal counsel provide the liability statement to be included in private practice counselor's informed consent documents and clarify any other needed actions to support private practice pastoral counselors of the ELCA; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the ELCA MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual be amended on p.20, III. Criteria and Procedures for Call, B. Procedures, 2. For Employment, paragraph 2, final sentence after "employing organization" add, "or private practice counseling opportunity."; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the ELCA MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual be amended on p.20, III. Criteria and Procedures for Call, B. Procedures, 2. For Employment, paragraph 4, first sentence after the words "employing organization" add, "or the private practice pastoral counseling business has been created in accordance with state and federal laws and requirements,"; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the ELCA MCPCCE Ecclesiastical Endorsement Manual be amended on p.24, IV. Program Guidelines for Church Related Organizations, D. Quality Assurance, below the existing text add, "5. For Private Practice Pastoral Counselors, a volunteer Advisory Board must be formed to provide an annual review and ongoing accountability to Ordination and Ecclesiastical Endorsement Standards as well as state licensure laws and professional requirements. See suggested guidelines for the Advisory Board below:" then insert the following "Advisory Board Agreement" attached to this Resolution; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Conference of Bishops be invited to hold continuity in annually renewing synod calls to specialized ministers despite geographic location or historic practice that might differ from annual review and renewal; and be it further

RESOLVED, that private practice pastoral counseling be fully acknowledged and supported as a valid extension of rostered ministry in the ELCA for our world.

Executive Committee action [EC21.06.13b]

To refer the "Extending Pastoral Counseling through Private Practice" resolution from the Northwest Intermountain Synod Council to the Office of the Secretary and the Christian Community and Leadership unit for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention;

To ask the Conference of Bishops to consider annually renewing synod calls to specialized ministers despite geographic location and historic practice that might differ from annual review and renewal; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Office of the Secretary (November 2022)

This question will need to be discerned with the Conference of Bishops, in consultation with the Leadership Committee and the Roster Committee of that body, as well as with the Christian Community and Leadership home area. Any change would require amendments to the governing documents and revision of the roster manual. Furthermore, this question would seem to fall under the review of Specialized Ministry called for by the 2022 Churchwide Assembly and would most appropriately be part of the recommendations to be made as a result of that review.

VOTED: CC22.11.34.gg.

EN BLOC

To receive the response on "Extending Pastoral Counseling through Private Practice" from the Office of the Secretary;

To direct the review team that will be initiating a review process of the roster manual and the constitutional provisions and policies and procedures as it relates to Specialized Ministry to incorporate this matter into its review; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

HH. Paid Leave for Rostered Ministers

Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod (7F) [2022]

RESOLVED, that the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod Council modifies the language of the resolution on Paid Leave for Rostered Ministers as follows: "It is recommended that congregations develop a program for parental leave which includes childbearing and childcare leave. The program should include both the birth and adoption of children and cover full salary, housing, and benefits with the understanding that the individual would return to work for a minimum of six months after taking the leave. It is recommended that any time a child is added to a household of a pastor [deacon], congregations provide at least 12 paid weeks of child-bearing leave for the birthing caregiver and at least 8 paid weeks of childcare leave for the non-birthing caregiver. This allows time to recover from the physical demands of childbirth, as well as for parents to spend time bonding with the child. A minimum of 6 weeks leave with full compensation is strongly encouraged. Congregations are also encouraged to consider the provisions of the federal Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) which allow for up to 12 weeks leave (which can be a combination of paid and unpaid leave). FMLA leave can be used for personal or family member care situations;" and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod in Assembly direct the Synod Council to petition the ELCA Church Council to request that Portico explore providing child-bearing leave and childcare leave coverage for congregations in which a child is added to the rostered minister's household.

Executive Committee action (EC22.06.19c7)

To refer the "Paid Leave for Rostered Ministers" resolution from Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod to Portico Benefit Services for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from Portico Benefit Services (November 2022)

Portico Benefit Services ("Portico") has reviewed the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod resolution related to parental and medical leave. Portico is in agreement and supportive of the value of children, the importance of their care and early nurture, and the need for parents/caregivers to be given the time to provide the early care/nurture.

Portico recommends that synods evaluate their compensation guidelines and consider incorporating Parental and Medical Leave policies for their synod.

ELCA benefits provided by Portico (and all church plans) are regulated at the national level, providing economies of scale for the ELCA. In response to this resolution, Portico has evaluated the feasibility of providing a national parental and medical leave benefit offering for congregations. The evaluation found that:

- A parental and medical leave benefit is challenging for Portico to administer; Portico lacks first-hand information so it is not aware of the member's work schedule to know when an absence begins and its associated compensation stops, limiting the ability to continue compensation seamlessly. Continuing compensation locally is far more likely to avoid compensation interruption than transferring compensation continuation to another entity and then back again after the leave ends.
- The FMLA's timely notification of leave requirement and collection of necessary documentation is often an iterative process. This process presents challenges for accurate and effective administration by Portico.
- Many states have laws that provide benefits beyond the FMLA, creating a patchwork of compliance and costs by state that prevent this church from offering and administering a single plan on a nationwide basis.
- If a new benefit were to be set up for the whole church, an initial assessment would likely be required to fund the start-up trust and retain competent expertise to administer the benefit. This will result in a program that may be more expensive to congregations than the cost of continuing payroll during a leave from the congregation's general assets. As good stewards of benefit resources, a benefit that is more costly provided

across the whole church is in conflict with the expectations this church gains economies of scale by coming together to source and provide benefits.

 These many administrative challenges and expenses may result in delay, frustration, and dissatisfaction with this benefit.

Given that this potential benefit is not likely to result in a satisfying benefit offering, Portico recommends that synods evaluate their compensation guidelines and consider incorporating parental and medical leave policies and resources where appropriate for their synod.

VOTED: ENBLOG

CC22.11.34.hh.

To receive the response on "Paid Leave for Rostered Ministers" from Portico Benefit ervices:

To encourage synods to evaluate their compensation guidelines and consider incorporating parental and medical leave policies and resources where appropriate for their synod; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

II. Justice for the Rev. Nelson Rabell-Gonzalez

Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod (7F) [2022]

RESOLVED, that the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod commends the ELCA presiding bishop on her establishment of a Listening Panel in Sierra Pacific Synod. Based on the outcome of the listening panel, this synod requests that appropriate actions be recommended and implemented to ensure a just resolution, and we pray for a healthy and just resolution for all; and, be it further,

RESOLVED, that the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod recommends that the ELCA presiding bishop and the Church Council reform the process used when a rostered minister is under investigation so that it allows the rostered minister opportunity for response, investigation, transparency, and appeal.

Executive Committee action [EC22.06.19c2]

To refer the "Justice for the Rev. Nelson Rabell-Gonzalez" resolution from the Southeastern Pennsylvania Synod to the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Office of the Secretary for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention, particularly in light of related memorials that are coming before the 2022 Churchwide Assembly; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Office of the Secretary (November 2022)

The Sierra Pacific Synod, led by interim Bishop Claire Burkat, is investigating the circumstances surrounding the removal of Nelson Rabell-Gonzalez from the roster, with a view towards achieving a healthy and just resolution, as called for in the first resolve. The churchwide organization, including the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Office of the Secretary, is supporting this investigation.

Similarly, while each synod has its own process for investigating rostered ministers, the churchwide organization is addressing the second resolve in a number of ways. In Spring 2022, the Church Council authorized the creation of the Task Force Addressing Disciplinary Concerns of Leaders of Color, which is "charged with reviewing the current process for discipline and its impact on persons of color and other historically marginalized groups, considering recommendations for staffing, community healing and restoration." [CC22.04.04] In addition, the 2022 Churchwide Assembly tasked the churchwide organization with reviewing the "Manual of Policies and Procedures for Management of the Rosters of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America" and the constitutional provisions and policies and procedures as they relate to interim, transition, bridge, specialized, non-parish-based, and innovative calls, as well as on-leave from call status, protocols for removal from the rosters, and communication protocols. [CA22.04.24] The expectation is that the groups working on these issues will address the concerns in this resolution, and this resolution will be forwarded to these groups.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.ii. To receive the response on "Justice for the Rev. Nelson Rabell-Gonzalez" from the Office of the Presiding Bishop and Office of the Secretary;

To request the Task Force Addressing Disciplinary Concerns of Leaders of Color and the review team for the roster manual to address the concerns identified in this resolution as they complete their work; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

JJ. Preferred Vendors and Privacy

Alaska Synod (1A) [2022]

WHEREAS, recently a third party 'preferred' financial vendor to the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America shared Alaska congregational financial and benevolence records to promote their new products; and

WHEREAS, each congregation is considered its own legal entity responsible for their financial records, keeping those records up to date, secure, and private in all regards to their member's giving patterns and amounts; and

WHEREAS, Alaska Lutheran congregations' control and share who receives their financial records upon request, and if they wish to share their records such as, congregations sharing that information with the Alaska Synod and their own financial institutions. Even then individual congregational members names and the amount of their benevolence is not shared; and

WHEREAS, it is wrong and unethical, that the financial culture of the United States at this time is that corporations buy and sell names, financial records, and the spending habits gleaned from multiple electronic sources. In short, it is an invasion of an American individual's privacy for corporations to exchange and deal in financial records for profit. The Evangelical Lutheran Church in America should not sanction this abuse of privacy; therefore be it

RESOLVED, that outside ELCA church third party vendors are not allowed to exchange any financial information with individuals, other business, ELCA synod offices or other congregations and that if an ELCA "preferred vendor" does exchange benevolence and financial information without prior written permission, they automatically lose their 'preferred vendor' status; and be it further

RESOLVED, that the Alaska Synod Assembly direct the Alaska Synod Council to forward this resolution to the Church Council's Executive Committee for referral and disposition to the appropriate unit or office of the churchwide organization in accordance with the bylaws and continuing resolutions of this church.

Executive Committee action [EC22.06.19c1]

To refer the "Preferred Vendors and Privacy" resolution from the Alaska Synod to the Office of the Treasurer, in consultation with the Office of the Presiding Bishop and the Office of the Secretary, for a report or for a timeline on when this will receive further attention; and

To request that the secretary of this church inform the synod of this action.

Response from the Office of the Treasurer (November 2022)

The ELCA churchwide organization has been in conversation with its preferred vendors and confirmed that no individual personally identifiable information (PII) was shared from the vendors to other organizations or individuals.

Each congregation signs an individual contract with a preferred vendor. As part of the contract, the congregation acknowledges the privacy policy of the vendor. In relation to this resolution, churchwide organization staff have confirmed that each of the vendors follows its privacy policy and has not shared information with synods or the churchwide organization that is in violation of its privacy policy.

Information that may be shared within the terms of the privacy policy between the vendors and synods or the churchwide organization is not for the purpose of marketing or sales of new products, but for the purpose of improving the value that its products have for the church.

VOTED: ENBLOC

CC22.11.34.jj.

To receive the response on "Preferred Vendors and Privacy" from the Office of the Treasurer;

To affirm that outside ELCA "preferred vendors" are not allowed to exchange any financial information with individuals, other businesses, synods, or other congregations that would be in violation of the vendor's privacy policy and that if an ELCA "preferred vendor" does exchange individual personally identifiable information without prior written permission, the vendor would lose its "preferred vendor" status; and

To request that the secretary inform the synod of this action.

NEW BUSINESS

(Agenda VI.D.)

Secretary Rothmeyer announced that there was no new business before the council.

PERSONAL REFLECTION ON FAITH

(Agenda VI.F.)

Ms. Divine offered personal reflections on her faith.

REPORT OF THE BOARD DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

(Agenda VI.E.)

Mr. Loren A. Solberg, vice chair of the Board Development Committee, provided the report of the committee on behalf of the Rev. Marcus A. Biggott, who was unable to attend. Mr. Solberg highlighted that the purpose of the committee is to improve the operations of the Church Council, and he encouraged council members to complete the evaluation form following the meeting. He called the attention of the council to the upcoming council retreat in March 2023 in Minneapolis, Minn.

RESULTS OF THE SECOND BALLOT FOR THE THIRD AT-LARGE MEMBER OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (LAY WOMAN OR NON-BINARY PERSON)

Vice President Siddiqui announced the results of the second ballot for lay woman or non-binary person membership to the Executive Committee.

Executive Committee: Lay Woman or Non-Binary Person:

23 votes: Ms. Tracey A. Beasley 13 votes: Ms. Susan Boxberger

Ms. Tracey A. Beasley was elected to the Executive Committee.

PROCESS OBSERVATION

(Agenda VI.G.)

Ms. Cherrish Holland offered process observations on the fifth and sixth plenary sessions.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

(Agenda VI.H.)

Secretary Rothmeyer provided several announcements, particularly the meeting of the Executive Committee at 7:30 a.m. on Nov. 13, 2022.

ADJOURNMENT

The sixth plenary session of 113th meeting of the Church Council of the ELCA adjourned at 4:52 p.m. (CST) on Nov. 12, 2022, following a hymn and prayer.

Sunday, Nov. 13, 2022 PLENARY SESSION VII

CALL TO ORDER

Vice President Siddiqui called the seventh plenary session to order at 9:00 a.m. (CST).

DEBRIEF OF THE 2022 CHURCHWIDE ASSEMBLY

(Agenda VII.A.)

The report of the evaluation of the 2022 Churchwide Assembly was distributed to council members electronically prior to the meeting. Mr. Adam DeHoek, congregation statistics analyst, provided guidance to council members on how to interpret the report. The primary purpose of the evaluation was to assess how well-prepared, engaged, and connected voting members of the Churchwide Assembly felt to the assembly and the wider ministry of this church prior to and during the assembly, with an eye to improving the experiences of voting members at future Churchwide Assemblies.

REPORT OF THE TREASURER

(Agenda VII.B.)

The report of the treasurer was distributed to council members electronically prior to the meeting. Ms. Lori S. Fedyk, treasurer of the ELCA, noted that, through September, unrestricted expenses have been higher than unrestricted revenues by \$1.7 million. This is largely expected because the organization's revenue generally increases near the end of the year. The budget projection was that at this point unrestricted expenses of the churchwide organization would be exceeding unrestricted income by \$3.5 million. The balance of unrestricted income versus unrestricted expenses through September is significantly lower than last year, primarily due to lower income from investments and increased expenses, particularly expenses related to increased travel. Mission Support is about 2.3% lower than budget projections and \$770,000 lower than last year. It is noteworthy, however, that several synods have increased their giving compared to last year. The treasurer provided some detail on the various sources of income. She noted that spending through September is at 88% of budget. In light of lower income, the Service and Justice and Christian Community and Leadership home areas have been asked to hold spending for the year to 95% of budget.

Noting that unrestricted funds and World Hunger funds are the two areas of the budget that the Church Council approves, Ms. Fedyk turned to the World Hunger budget, noting that revenue is ahead of budget. The plan is for 2023 World Hunger spending to exceed revenue due to the account having a larger fund balance than is desirable. Ms. Fedyk also noted that Innovation home area spending has been low due to a position remaining unfilled for much of the year.

REPORT OF THE BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

(Agenda VII.C.)

The report of the Budget and Finance Committee was distributed to council members electronically prior to the meeting. Ms. Cherrish Holland, chair of the Budget and Finance Committee, summarized the activities of the committee, calling attention to the action items the committee is bringing to the council.

REVISIONS TO FY23 SPENDING AUTHORIZATION

(Agenda VII.C.1.)

Ms. Holland noted that the Church Council approved the 2023 unrestricted budget in April 2022, and this was ratified by the Churchwide Assembly in August 2022. The World Hunger spending budget is also being reconsidered in light of excess revenue available as noted in the Treasurer's report.

VOTED:

CC22.11.35

To revise the 2023 fiscal year current fund spending authorization from \$68,814,000 to \$68,429,562; and

To revise the 2023 ELCA World Hunger spending authorization from \$22,869,000 to \$25,250,000.

AUDIT OF THE 2022 FISCAL YEAR

Ms. Holland noted that the Budget and Finance Committee recommended that the Church Council approve the engagement of Crowe LLP to perform the audit service plan for the fiscal year ending January 31, 2023.

VOTED:

CC22.11.36

To approve the engagement of Crowe LLP to perform the audit service plan for the churchwide organization's year ending January 31, 2023.

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

(Agenda VII.D.)

Vice President Siddiqui noted that, following Church Council committee meetings, the charters of some of the committees were amended and that the council is responsible for ratifying those amendments. In accordance with the Constitution, Bylaws, and Continuing Resolutions of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America and ELCA Church Council Governance Policy Manual, the charters of the Church Council committees describe the responsibilities, composition, protocols, and meeting agendas of the committees.

VOTED:

CC22.11.37

To approve the revised committee charters; and

To authorize the Office of the Secretary to make any necessary editorial corrections for accuracy.

PROCESS AND TIMELINE TO ESTABLISH COMMISSION FOR A RENEWED LUTHERAN CHURCH

Churchwide Assembly Action [CA22.01.06]

To receive with gratitude the memorials from the Northern Texas-Northern Louisiana Synod, Metropolitan Chicago Synod, Northeastern Ohio Synod, Northwestern Pennsylvania Synod, Southwestern Pennsylvania Synod, Allegheny Synod, Lower Susquehanna Synod, Delaware-Maryland Synod, Metropolitan Washington, D.C., Synod, and West Virginia-Western Maryland Synod concerning the restructure of the ELCA's governance; and

To direct the Church Council to establish a Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church comprised of leaders of diverse representation from all three expressions that, working in consultation with the Conference of Bishops and the Church Council, shall reconsider the statements of purpose for each of the expressions of this church, the principles of its organizational structure, and all matters pertaining thereunto, being particularly attentive to our shared commitment to dismantle racism, and will present its findings and recommendations to the 2025 Churchwide Assembly in preparation for a possible reconstituting convention to be called under the rules for a special meeting of the Churchwide Assembly.

On behalf of the Executive Committee, Secretary Rothmeyer brought forward the following motion:

Moved:

To establish a Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church consisting of no more than 35 voting members, directing the Executive Committee of the Church Council to initiate the process of forming the commission, fulfilling the responsibilities of the Church Council related to nominations in accordance with 14.41.01.c., and receiving nominations to fill positions allocated in the following manner:

- Three voting members from each region for a total of 27, two of whom will be selected from nominations received by each Synod Council/Synod Council Executive Committee and one of whom will be received through an open nomination process;
- Each Synod Council/Synod Council Executive Committee will be invited to submit two potential nominees;
- Up to 8 at-large voting members will be selected from either the synod nominations or the open nomination process;

To populate the commission according to the representational principles of this church, requiring that at least 25% of the commission be persons of color/language other than English; and striving for at least 20% of members to be youth/young adults;

To request the nomination process be completed prior to the April 2023 Church Council meeting, presenting a slate of nominees to the Church Council for action; and

To invite this church to join us in prayer as this church embarks on this process of renewal.

Secretary Rothmeyer clarified the timeline for establishment of the commission. A memo explaining the process would be sent to the various expressions of this church and nomination forms would be available by early January 2023. The deadline for receiving nominations would be early in March.

Ms. Divine moved to amend the motion by substitution as follows:

Moved; Seconded;

Carried:

To establish a Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church consisting of no more than 35 voting members, directing the Executive Committee of the Church Council to initiate the process of forming the commission, fulfilling the responsibilities of the Church Council related to nominations in accordance with 14.41.01.c., and receiving nominations to fill positions allocated in the following manner:

- Three voting members from each region for a total of 27, two of whom will be selected from nominations received by each Synod Council of Council Executive Committee and one of whom will be received through an open nomination process;
- Each Synod Council For Synod Council Executive Committee will be invited to submit two potential nominees;
- Up to 8 at-large voting members will be selected from either the synod nominations or the open nomination process;

To populate the commission according to the representational principles of this church, requiring that at least 25% of the commission be persons of color/language other than English; and striving for at least 20% of members to be youth/young adults;

To request the nomination process be completed prior to the April 2023 Church Council meeting, presenting a slate of nominees to the Church Council for action; and

To invite this church to join us in prayer as this church embarks on this process of renewal.

Mr. Kevin Anderson moved to amend the motion by insertion as follows:

EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA CHURCH COUNCIL Nov. 10–13, 2022

MINUTES, page 46

Moved; Seconded; Carried:

To establish a Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church consisting of no more than 35 voting members, directing the Executive Committee of the Church Council to initiate the process of forming the commission, fulfilling the responsibilities of the Church Council related to nominations in accordance with 14.41.01.c., and receiving nominations to fill positions allocated in the following manner:

- Three voting members from each region for a total of 27, two of whom will be selected from nominations received by each Synod Council or Synod Council Executive Committee and one of whom will be received through an open nomination process;
- Each Synod Council or Synod Council Executive Committee will be invited to submit two potential nominees;
- Up to 8 at-large voting members will be selected from either the synod nominations or the open nomination process;

To populate the commission according to the representational principles of this church, requiring that at least 25% of the commission be persons of color/primary language other than English; and striving for at least 20% of members to be youth/young adults;

To request the nomination process be completed prior to the April 2023 Church Council meeting, presenting a slate of nominees to the Church Council for action; and

To invite this church to join us in prayer as this church embarks on this process of renewal.

VOTED: CC22.11.38

To establish a Commission for a Renewed Lutheran Church consisting of no more than 35 voting members, directing the Executive Committee of the Church Council to initiate the process of forming the commission, fulfilling the responsibilities of the Church Council related to nominations in accordance with 14.41.01.c., and receiving nominations to fill positions allocated in the following manner:

- Three voting members from each region for a total of 27, two of whom will be selected from nominations received by each Synod Council or Synod Council Executive Committee and one of whom will be received through an open nomination process;
- Each Synod Council or Synod Council Executive Committee will be invited to submit two potential nominees;
- Up to 8 at-large voting members will be selected from either the synod nominations or the open nomination process;

To populate the commission according to the representational principles of this church, requiring that at least 25% of the commission be persons of color/primary language other than English; and striving for at least 20% of members to be youth/young adults;

To request the nomination process be completed prior to the April 2023 Church Council meeting, presenting a slate of nominees to the Church Council for action; and

To invite this church to join us in prayer as this church embarks on this process of renewal.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

Vice President Siddiqui announced the dates for the upcoming March 2023 Church Council non-legislative retreat in Minneapolis, Minn., and tentative dates for the April 2023 legislative meeting of the Church Council to be held electronically.

Ms. Fedyk called the attention of the council to an element from the treasurer's report that was not covered earlier. Ms. Louise N. Johnson, executive for administration, explained that the intent is to revise the process by which funds

are reallocated to support innovation to allow churchwide organization staff to determine what aspects of their current operating priorities can be deprioritized to free capacity for refocusing time, energy, and financial resources on innovation. Suggestions for reprioritization will then be brought to the Church Council for approval.

EVALUATION AND DEBRIEFING

(Agenda VII.E.)

Vice President Siddiqui led the council in a discussion of the flow of the meeting and reflection on the work accomplished by the council. He concluded by encouraging council members to complete the meeting evaluation form.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

(Agenda VII.F.)

Secretary Rothmeyer provided various announcements for the good of the council.

ADJOURNMENT

The 113th meeting of the Church Council of the ELCA adjourned at 10:58 a.m. (CST) on Nov. 13, 2022.

The meeting was followed by a concluding worship with Holy Communion at which the Rev. Karn S. Carroll presided and Bishop Tracie L. Bartholomew preached. Mr. Noah F. Roux served as assisting minister and Ms. Cherrish Holland served as lector.